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Supreme Court rules
against book ban

by Nancy Knickerbocker

M
urray Warren couldn’t
hold back the tears
when he heard the
news. With fellow

teacher James Chamberlain, he
had won the long legal battle
that began in a Kindergarten
classroom and wound up in the
highest court in the land. 

In a landmark decision
released December 20, 2002,
the Supreme Court of Canada
ruled that the Surrey School
Board was wrong to ban three

the end of a lot of questions
about who should and should
not be included in our public
education system.” He said the
ruling “sends a clear message to
school boards across the
country that every child, and his
or her family, has the right to be
treated with respect, equity, and
dignity.”

Chamberlain said that he
hopes the ruling “will help lay
the foundation for the building
of a more caring, compassionate
school system, one in which
censorship, antigay bigotry, and
the profound lack of anti-
homophobia education in
schools eventually become
archaic relics of the past.”

The books at issue—Asha’s
Mums, Belinda’s Bouquet, and
One Dad, Two Dads, Brown
Dads, Blue Dads—all depict
children of same-sex parents in
loving families. The school
board disallowed the books on
the grounds that they offended
the religious sensibilities of
Christian, Sikh, and Muslim
families in the community.

In its ruling, the Supreme
Court said that the board made
three errors in coming to its
decision to prohibit the books.
First, it violated the principles of
secularism and tolerance that
are fundamental to the School
Act. “Instead of proceeding on
the basis of respect for all types
of families,” the board
“proceeded on an exclusionary
philosophy.”

Second, the board departed

from its own regulations for
approval of classroom
resources. The board “gave no
consideration to the needs of
children of same-sex parented
families and instead based its
decision on the views of a

religious or moral grounds, it
stated that “The distaste of some
parents for books that do not
conform with their personal
beliefs cannot shape the policy
of a pluralist education system
that has proclaimed its commit-
ment to accepting and celebrat-
ing diversity.” 

“B.C. teachers have been
saying for years that children in
all kinds of families need to feel
safe, secure, and celebrated in
our schools. Today the highest
court in the land has said it
agrees,” said Jinny Sims, first
vice-president of the B.C.
Teachers’ Federation.

“We welcome the decision,
with all its positive implications
for social justice in our schools
and society. And we call on the
Surrey trustees to work with
teachers to ensure that the spirit
of this decision is made real in
the classroom,” Sims said.

The school board chair told
reporters the board intends to
follow the court’s ruling. But, in
a dazzling example of legal
double-speak, the board’s
lawyer insisted, “It doesn’t mean
we were wrong, only that we
were found to be wrong.”

The next step will likely be for
Chamberlain to resubmit his
application for the books to be
approved for classroom use. “If
they’re not, I suspect we’ll be
back in court very quickly,” said
Arvay.

Nancy Knickerbocker is the
BCTF’s media relations officer.

…children “should
be able to discuss

their family models,
whatever these may

be, and that all
children should be
made aware of the
diversity of family

models that exist in
our society.”

children’s books depicting same-
sex families. The teachers’
lawyer, Joe Arvay, said that it
was “the most hard-fought
litigation I’ve ever been involved
in,” and that he was “completely
and utterly thrilled with the
result.”

“This is the end of a six-year
journey that has been quite an
arduous one,” said Warren. “It’s

“B.C. teachers
have been saying

for years that
children in all kinds
of families need to
feel safe, secure,
and celebrated in
our schools.…”

particular group who were
opposed to any depiction of
same-sex relationships in K–1
school materials.”

Third, the board applied the
wrong criteria and did not take
into account the curriculum
goals for children at the K–1
level; that is, that children
“should be able to discuss their
family models, whatever these
may be, and that all children
should be made aware of the
diversity of family models that
exist in our society.”

The board justified its
decision by saying that children
should not be exposed to
information and ideas with
which their parents disagree.
But, while the court acknowl-
edged the concerns of parents
who opposed the books on

The Supreme Court of Canada ruled that the Surrey School Board was wrong to ban three children’s books depicting 
same sex families. The court ruled that the board violated the principles of secularism and tolerance, ignored its own

regulations for approving materials, and applied the wrong criteria. Murray Warren, one of the petitioners 
in the case reacts to the court decision with the media at the BCTF building on December 20, 2002.
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President’s
message

READERS WRITE
Dairy foundation
selling products
I find the advertisement for the

free sampler CD-ROM from the
B.C. Dairy Foundation in the
Sept./Oct. 2002 issue of Teacher
very interesting as the BCTF de-
cries the growing influence of
corporate influence in our public
schools. The B.C. Dairy Founda-
tion has been one of the most
consistent corporate influences in
our schools. Visit any public ele-
mentary school in B.C., and you
will see that it has a virtual mo-
nopoly on nutrition education. As
the ad says, “Leading the way in
Nutrition Education for over 25
years!”

Why does the B.C. Dairy Foun-
dation provide this service? To sell
its products to children and their
parents. Period. 

Are dairy products nutritious?
Well, certainly they contain vita-
mins and minerals. They are also
devoid of fibre and generally
high in fat and cholestorol (2%
milk, for example, is approxi-
mately 50% fat by calories). The
dairy industry’s treatment of ani-
mals is morally questionable at
best, and reprehensible at worst.
And current research into the
causes of bone loss shows that ex-
cess animal protein (as found in
dairy products) is the likely cul-
prit, not a lack of calcium in the
diet. Calcium is readily available
in many non-animal foods. Teach-
ers of nutrition: Don’t rely on in-
formation supplied by someone
selling a product. Do your own re-
search, and present a balanced,
factual unit on nutrition to your
students.
Craig Bresett
Langley

Teacher exchange
orientation

Spread the word to any teach-
ers who are itching for a new ex-
perience to come and hear what
Carol Wilkins, the co-ordinator of
the Canadian Education Ex-
change Foundation, has to say.
On Saturday, March 1, 2003, 10:30
a.m. in the staffroom at 1627
Stelly’s X Road, Saanichton, she
will provide all the necessary in-
formation to create a successful
exchange experience.

Recent returnees and some cur-
rently on exchange from else-
where will share their highs and
lows.

To register, phone 250-652-
0428, or e-mail roleregiro@
pacificcoast.net. A nominal fee
will be charged to help cover the
cost of using a meeting room.
Lennor Stieda,
Vancouver Island Exchange
Teachers’ President

Big Sisters’ study
buddy program

Are you an adult woman with
teaching experience? Do you
have desire to contribute to your
community? If so, Big Sisters
needs you!

Big Sisters of B.C. Lower Main-
land has launched an exciting
new initiative called the Big Sis-
ters Study Buddy program. The
program matches Little Sisters be-
tween the ages of 7 and 17 years

B.C. Federation of Labour, public
relations campaigns, and other
services to members.
Kit Krieger
West Vancouver 

Basketball with
your doctor?

Sandra Bourque, Richmond
School Board chair, concludes,
“When they have a good rela-
tionship with children [through
extracurriculars], it improves the
teaching and learning environ-
ment.” (The Vancouver Sun, Oc-
tober 15, 2002)

Eureka! I can improve my rela-
tionship with my doctor. “What’s
up doc? How about a game of
basketball?”
Amabile Ranta
Maple Ridge

Thanks to BCTF
We achieved a significant suc-

cess in winning our Supreme
Court of Canada case against the
Surrey School Board for banning
three books depicting children
who have same gender parents.

When I, together with my life
partner, Peter Cook, launched
and took on the financial respon-
sibility for the case in 1997, we
knew the journey would be long
and arduous. No words can ex-
press the gratitude we feel for
the boundless support and en-
couragement (both moral and fi-
nancial) we have received from
the Federation and its members.
There were many dark days when
we wondered whether we could
keep up the struggle, but always
the Federation was there when
we needed it most.

The Supreme Court’s decision
affirms the importance of keep-
ing public education equitable,
accessible, and open to all, and
that it is an institution in which
there is no room for allowing the
rights of any one person or group
of persons to trump the rights of
any other.

Thank you, once again, for all
you have done.
Murray Warren
Coquitlam
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with volunteer tutors who assist
them with their school work once
a week for a minimum of three
months. The Little Sisters in the
program have demonstrated a
need for extra help with their
school work and could benefit
from the one-on-one assistance
the program offers. Study Buddy
matches will be based on the
needs of the student and the
skills of the volunteer.

If you are willing to commit a
minimum of one hour a week for
three months to tutor a Little Sis-
ter, please contact Shannon Goe-
pel, Manager of Programs and
Services, at 604-873-4525, ext.
307 or sgoepel@bigsisters.bc.ca,
for more information.

Imagination in
education

call for papers
This is a call for papers for the

first International Conference on
Imagination in Education, to be
held in Vancouver, July 16–19,
2003.

Any questions or comments
can be sent to the Imaginative Ed-
ucation Research Group (IERG), of
Simon Fraser University, at 
ierg-ed@sfu.ca. The document is
available at our conference web
site, www.sfu.ca/conferences/
ierg2003/. Learn more about IERG
at www.ierg.net.
Isabelle Eaton, ieaton@sfu.ca
Simon Fraser University

Failure to
amalgamate costly

British Columbia was one of
several provinces across Canada
to amalgamate school districts in
the mid-1990s. Alone among the
provincial unions, the BCTF re-
fused to amalgamate locals, de-
spite a constitutional require-
ment to do so, in the wake of
school district amalgamation. In
Ontario, Manitoba, Alberta, and
the Maritime provinces, teacher
unions quickly brought local
structures into alignment with
provincial structures. 

The failure to act for seven
years has been costly to the Fed-
eration and its locals, both finan-
cially and in terms of member
rights. The Federation continues
to pay over $500,000 annually in
release grants to multiple locals
in single school districts. In one
case, three local presidents are re-
leased in a single district! Impa-
tient and uncomprehending of
the existence of multiple locals in
single districts, the Liberal gov-
ernment legislated the end to
nine local collective agreements
in January 2002. The “vaporiza-
tion” of collective agreements
cost members dearly in affected
locals.

The vast majority of members
don’t know about this situation.
If they did, they would be dis-
mayed that the situation was not
dealt with many years ago. Dele-
gates to the 2003 AGM must
come prepared to make difficult
but necessary decisions to restruc-
ture BCTF locals along district
lines. The resources being cur-
rently allocated to amalgamated
locals should be redirected to pri-
orities such as affiliation with the

A
s required by the Society
Act, the following formal
notice of the 2003 AGM
is made to all BCTF

members pursuant to By-law
8.1 by publication in this edition
of Teacher.

The 87th Annual General
Meeting of the British Columbia
Teachers’ Federation will be
held in the Hyatt Regency Hotel,
Vancouver, beginning on
Saturday evening, March 15,
2003 at 7:00 p.m. and continu-
ing to Tuesday, March 18, 2003.

AGM 2003 deadlines
• February 3: deadline for
candidate statement copy for
Teacher newsmagazine.
• March 1: deadline for
withdrawal of candidate names
from ballot and agenda.

BCTF Building
security

F
eeling safe and secure in
the BCTF building is
something everyone
would like. Facility

Services Co-ordinator Belva Lee
has tried many ways to improve
security to protect the Federa-
tion’s equipment and personal
belongings of staff. She said,
“We want the building to be
easily accessible for members,
but in three separate trials over
the last eight months, when we
restricted access to elevators,
we had no thefts in the building,
and staff said they felt safer.”

After recent incidents of theft
and suspicious visitors in the
building, the Executive Com-
mittee agreed to continue the
restricted elevator access to the
second and third floors of the
building. The decision will be
reviewed in a year.

If you are a member visiting
the building, you will be
required to obtain an identi-
fication tag from the BCTF
receptionist on the main floor,
be met by a staff person on the
main floor, or be provided with
an access card to the elevator
for the day. The new security
measures began on December 9,
2002.

We appreciate your co-
operation in taking a few extra
minutes to sign in at the main
reception area when you arrive
at the building.

Is your school
plugged in? 

I
s there a teacher at your
school who would take on
the responsibility to monitor
the web? Have the teacher

sign up to the BCTF e-alert. The
volunteer will receive an e-mail
every time something is added
to the BCTF web site. The
message will contain a brief
description of the new
information with a direct link to
make access easy. The teacher
can sign up by going to
www.bctf.ca/signup and
following the directions to get
onto the list and stay informed.

Notice of 
AGM 2003

PSA census 
April 15

As we enter 2003, many
teachers are looking back to the
tumultuous events of one year
ago, when the B.C. Liberals
rammed legislation through to
impose a contract and eliminate
learning conditions from our
collective agreements.

What a difference a year
makes! Less than two years into
their mandate, the Liberals are
plummeting in the polls, and they
received a stinging rebuke with
the municipal and school-board
election results. 

Teachers, on the other hand,
are re-energized by the positive
results we achieved by working
together for a common cause.
The COPE sweep in Vancouver
was the most dramatic change of
all, but voters on the Island, in
the Interior, and in the North also
sent strong messages to Christy
Clark and her government. 

In Clark’s own Coquitlam
riding, the Liberal supporters
went down to defeat, and pro-
education candidates now hold
the balance of power on the
school board. Greater Victoria
also has a new teacher-friendly
board with what they’re calling a
“fresh mandate to stand up for
the kids.” 

So far, 11 school boards have
voted non-confidence in the
education minister. Non-
confidence in the minister equals
confidence in ourselves, and in
our work to uphold class size and
composition, support for students
with special needs, and proper
staffing levels in our schools. 

One of the most important
tasks we have now is to help the
progressive trustees to be strong,
and to reassure them that if they
find the courage to stand up and
say No to the second year of cuts,
we will be there with them. 

And other British Columbians
will be there too. A growing
percentage of the population can
clearly see the damage done to
our social services by the tax cut.
Parents see the negative effects
of the cuts on their kids’
educational opportunities, and
they are beginning to challenge
the government too.

I’m confident that by working
together with parents and others
in our communities, we can have
a positive influence on the
budget-setting process.

A
pril 15 is the date on
which the Federation
will calculate 2003–04
per capita grants to its

provincial specialist associa-
tions. To become a PSA member
in time to be counted for next
year’s per capital grant, print a
form from the BCTF’s web site
at bctf.ca/psas/~PSA-
ApplicationForm.pdf, and send
it to the Federation by early
April.

Sign tthe ppetition
Sign the petition to return
learning conditions to the

collective agreement—
www.bctf.ca/firmlimits.

mailto:newsmag@bctf.ca
http://www.bctf.ca/ezine/
http://www.bctf.ca/signup
http://www.bctf.ca/firmlimits
http://bctf.ca/psas/~PSA-ApplicationForm.pdf


TEACHER Jan./Feb. 2003 3

70 years ago
In every crisis there are those

unthinking people who would
throw overboard anything that
would lighten the load, regard-
less of its value. Our system of
public schools has slowly
evolved through the last century,
coincident with the growth of
the nation itself. These schools
were established and developed
to make effective the philosophy
and purposes of democracy. No
action should be taken because
of the economic stress and
strain of the moment that might
permanently lessen the
effectiveness of this institution.
The education of our youth is an
obligation of such transcendent
importance in this democracy
that it ought not to be subjected
to the caprice incident to
economic expediency.

– The B.C. Teacher, January 1933

50 years ago
Science teachers throughout

the province have undoubtedly
noticed during the past decade
the interest of students in
matters pertaining to atomic
physics and particularly to the
release of atomic energy as in
the atom bomb. Problems of

atomic structure, radiation,
sound, radioactivity, all have
their application in this marvel
of twentieth century science. But
students and parents pose other
problems such as the effect of
the industrial use of atomic
energy on our economy, the
psychological effect on adults
and children of anxieties and
fears over the use of the bomb,
and problems of defence of
civilians against atomic attack.

– The B.C. Teacher, January 1953

30 years ago
“I have to support the School

Board,” I was told awhile ago.
“When the School Board adopts
a policy, it becomes my duty to
see that it is carried out even if
the teachers don’t like it.”

The attitude revealed by
words like these surely repre-
sents a servant mentality; they
are not the words one free
person would say to another. To
direct a person, to require him
to do what he thinks is wrong, is
to treat him as something less
than a human being and thereby
to threaten his self-esteem.
Those who want to direct others
are denying to others the chance
to be individuals. One person

need not set out to direct
another. All of us should be
directed rather by purpose,
process, and concept.

– The B.C. Teacher, January 1973

10 years ago
Is the Year 2000 dead or

alive? Does the Federation
support Year 2000? Are changes
proceeding too quickly or too
slowly? For many people, the
phrase Year 2000 means official
education change in B.C. The
term has a certain mythical
quality—a slogan for a 1990s
version of progressive educa-
tion: either very good or very
bad, depending on your point of
view.

It is more useful to under-
stand Year 2000 as a particular
curriculum, assessment, and
program framework—a subset
of the recommendations of the
1988 Royal Commission. With
such varied use of terms, it
would be folly for the Federation
or any responsible body to
declare itself for or against Year
2000.

– Teacher Newsmagazine,
Jan./Feb. 1993

Chris Bocking, Keating Elementary
School, Saanich

Creating a bully-free climate
by Jinny Sims

I
n the wake of an imposed
contract, stripped learning
and working conditions, and
an attack on teachers’

professional influence, many
members have discovered that
schools don’t feel as safe as they
used to. Although the majority
of administrative officers do
their job in as benign a way as
the position allows, there has
been an increase in the number
of “rogue AOs” who have
attempted to intimidate
teachers, forgetting that they
are still party to a collective
agreement with rules about due
process for and respectful
treatment of employees. In
many cases, they are supported
by district personnel who
attempt to silence teachers’
voices and, in some cases, by
school boards that do not make
good personnel relations their
business. The class-size cards
are a case in point. Those small
cards were intended to let
parents know only two pieces of
crucial information: the size of
the class their child is in this
year and the limit the class
would have been held to had the
contract limits been in place.
Yet, in a number of districts, the
district management instructed
teachers that they were not to
give the cards to parents.
Amazing! It can only lead to
speculating why anyone would
not want parents to be privy to
information that directly affects
their child’s learning.

To add to the unsafe climate,
the education minister has sent
out the message that teachers in
B.C. don’t do a good job, that
they need to be monitored and
regulated. Reggi Balabanov, the
head of BCCPAC, can be counted
on to echo that message—in
spite of the fact that our public
education system in B.C. is one
of the best in the world.
(Imagine, instead, an education
minister who supports the front
line professionals, talks about
the strengths of the system, and
builds public confidence in
public education. Imagine a
head of a parent organization

who joins with teachers in
advocating for the best learning
conditions for children.)

How are teachers reacting to
the loss of learning-conditions
guarantees for their students,
coupled with increased pressure
from administrators, and a
climate of blame and intimida-
tion? More and more, teachers
are phoning local associations
and the BCTF in tears. They are
distraught because they not only
cannot meet the needs of their
students with the erosion to
services, programs, and class
size, but also are being pres-
sured, in covert and overt ways,
not to talk about it. They are
becoming ill in greater numbers
and severity. Many more are
looking at teaching as a short-
term proposition. Some are
leaving the country, and others
are leaving the profession.

We still have rights 
and a strong union

Some locals and teachers,
with the assistance and support
of the Federation, have taken on
those who try to intimidate.
Mission teachers, at Edwin S.
Richards Elementary School,
wrote a letter to the editor of the
local paper. They talked about
the proposed loss of the French-
immersion program at their
school, a program they talked
about with pride. What was the
district’s response to a simple
letter to the editor? It
threatened the teachers with
discipline for going public. The
BCTF ‘s advice in that case was,
“Go public again, name the
intimidation for what it is, and
we’ll support you all the way—
legally and politically.” Local
president Mark Bradshaw did
exactly that. He spoke to the
media and informed them of the
threat and the issues involved.
The result was a raft of letters
to the editor from parents and
others who not only supported
the teachers but also joined in
decrying the loss of the school
program. The school board lost
public ground, the parents and
teachers allied on issues that
were critical to them and their
school, and the district was not

supported in its attempt to
silence teachers.

That story shouldn’t be
surprising to us. We know what
to do and what not to do when
faced with threats. Remaining
silent does the public education
system no good at all.

We have many 
friends and allies

Teachers are discovering that
the climate of support for public
education is warming up. The
AGM’s adoption of the Public
Education Advocacy Plan, which
emphasizes community out-
reach and direct involvement in
school-board elections among
other priorities, is paying off.
Around the province, teachers
helped elect pro-education
trustees. Parents are forming
groups to advocate for a strong
and stable public education
system and improved learning
conditions for their kids. The
press is beginning to cover the
impact of the education-funding
freeze. Coalitions are springing
up everywhere, and Christy
Clark is increasingly under
attack for her failure to
seriously address any of the
educational issues. To date, 11
school boards have passed
motions of non-confidence or
concern about the lack of
funding and her failure to
advocate for the system. At the
recent BCSTA conference, the
minister showed up late for her
address, made a speech with
very little new content, refused
to answer questions, and then
left. Trustees spoke openly
about her poor performance.

The Ontario experience
Further afield, after years of

de-funding the public education
system, the Ontario government
is now trying to correct the
damage its own policies have
inflicted. The report by govern-
ment appointee Mordecai
Rozanski has analyzed the
situation and the failure of that
provincial government’s policies.
He recommends an injection of
at least $1.8 billion into the
education system to rebuild it.

We need to call on our govern-
ment not to put children
through the years of turmoil
that the Ontario school system
endured, but to recognize right
now the value of a well-
supported and well-funded
public education system for our
students in B.C. How will we be
able to get the message out that
what happened in Ontario is
happening here in B.C.? Not by
having our voices taken away
from us. We have a role to play,
and we need to speak out.

Speaking out for education: 
A proud and professional
tradition

Beyond the school walls, the
climate’s looking better and
better. Now, the challenge is for
teachers to join together and
move beyond the intimidation to
speak out loudly about the
issues. We need to meet as
union members and work
together to find others who

support public education. We
need to work with parents who
always want the best for their
kids and with the trustees who
understand that education
funding and class-size limits are
essential to student learning. It
is not the time to shut our
classroom doors.

We have lots of friends outside
the school walls. Professionally,
it is our responsibility to inform
others of the dangers to
students and the system posed
by government policies. The
Federation and B.C. teachers
have a long and proud history of
speaking out in defence of
students and public education.
We must continue that tradition.

Open your doors to the
possibilities of a better future.
You’ll find that the climate’s
improved and we have many
friends and allies, but you need
to take the first step.

Jinny Sims is the BCTF’s first
vice-president.

Education must be 
accessible to all

by Murray Warren

A
t the end of all IRPs is
Appendix C: Cross-
curricular Interests,
which includes issues

such as gender equity, racism,
special needs, and Aboriginal
issues. That appendix served two
purposes: it was used to screen
the drafts of the IRPs to ensure
they reflected and were
consistent with the principle of
equitable access for all students,
and it was intended to guide
teachers, as they planned and
implemented curriculum, to
ensure that those issues were
attended to in their teaching.
Missing were the issues of sexual
orientation and gender identity.

In 1999, after repeatedly
asking different ministers of
education why those issues were
omitted and failing to receive a
response, my life partner and I
filed a human rights complaint
against the minister for refusing
to include sexual orientation and
sexual identity as cross-
curricular interests.

In its attempt to dismiss the
complaint, the ministry claimed
that the B.C. Human Rights
Commission had no jurisdiction
in the matter, that my partner
and I did not represent a
discernable group of people as
defined by the Human Rights
Act, and that the curriculum did
not constitute a service custom-
arily available to the public.
Finally, in June 2000, then
Deputy Minister of Education
Charles Ungerleider wrote to all
superintendents and principals
in the province, announcing that
as the IRPs went through the
revision process, Appendix C
would be removed. 

The commission rejected all
the ministry’s defence attempts,
found we had a legitimate
complaint, and forwarded it to a
Human Rights Tribunal for
adjudication. The tribunal will
take place over three weeks in
February 2003. To date, three
IRPs have been revised, and
Appendix C has been removed
from them all. 

Whether or not teachers paid
much attention to the directive of
Appendix C, the ministry itself
believed it was important
enough to include it in all the
IRPs, ostensibly because it
believed the principles of equity,
inclusion, and recognition of

oppressed minorities needed to
be reflected in the curriculum
documents. Now that the
appendix is being systematically
removed, what does that say
about the ministry’s commitment
to those principles? How does
the ministry now intend to
ensure that those very important
ideas are embedded in and
woven throughout the
curriculum?

Since lodging this complaint, I
have repeated to all ministers of
education (Paul Ramsay, Penny
Priddy, Joy McPhail, and Christy
Clark) that we will gladly drop
the complaint if the ministry will
meet three conditions: reinstate
Appendix C, include sexual
orientation and gender identity
as cross-curricular interests, and
declare that sexual orientation,
gender identity, and same-sex
families are not, in the ministry’s
official view, “sensitive issues.”
None has agreed to those
requests.

At its November meeting, the
Social Justice Advisory Com-
mittee unanimously supported
two resolutions to the Executive
Committee: “That the BCTF
intervene in the human rights
complaint (Warren/Cook) against
the Ministry of Education to be
heard at the B.C. Human Rights
Tribunal in February 2003,” and
“That the Executive recommend
to the 2003 AGM that the
Ministry of Education restore the
Cross Curricular Interest
Appendix C to the new and
revised IRPs and that one of the
Cross Curricular Interests be
sexual orientation.”

If, as it claims in the
Introduction to Appendix C, the
Ministry of Education wants to
ensure that education in British
Columbia is relevant, equitable,
and accessible to all learners,
how can it, in all conscience,
justify the total removal of the
cross-curricular interests so as
not to have to include sexual
orientation and sexual identity?
What message does it send to
the students of this province
about how truly committed we
are to ensuring that each and
every one of them is welcomed
and valued in our schools?

Murray Warren teaches at
Blakeburn Elementary School,
Coquitlam and is a member of
the BCTF’s Social Justice
Advisory Committee.

LOOKING BACK
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The cost of what Langley teachers
and students have lost

by Teri Sobo

W
ith several quick
strokes of a pen, the
“educational heart”
of the collective

agreement has been ripped out.
Gone are provisions covering:
• ESL
• caseloads
• class-size limits
• special classes
• class-size limits when safety is

a factor
• mandate for school-based

teams
• identification of students with

special needs
• integration of students with

special needs
• staffing levels for non-

enrolling teachers
• programming and resources

based on students’
educational needs

• release time for in-service
education for teachers
enrolling students with special
needs

• the resolution procedure for
violations of the above
provisions and more.
The cost of what we have lost

is immeasurable.

The provisions of
the collective

agreement required
a certain level of

funding.
In the period leading up to

1988, Langley teachers devoted
at least $10,000 to a class-size
study and campaign. We did
that in an effort to improve
working conditions for teachers
and learning conditions for
students.

We voted to become a union
and thereby gained the right to
free collective bargaining. After
many months of negotiation,
mediation, and arbitration, we
achieved firm numbers in the
collective agreement. “Over
1,000 teachers lost more than a
week’s salary in 1989 to achieve

firm class-size limits,” recalls
Peter Owens, president of the
Langley Teachers’ Association
from 1988 to 1991. “And that
was miniscule compared to the
thousands of hours given by
teachers over 30 years to
improve learning conditions for
students.”

That’s all in the past.
Over the years, administration

challenged the firm numbers
and other provisions in the col-
lective agreement. In response,
teachers filed grievances.
Through settlements of the
grievances, the language was
further defined. Some grie-
vances had to be resolved
through arbitration. Many gains
were made through settlements
and arbitrated awards, among
them:
• definitions of special needs
• additional release time for

school-based teams to meet
• psycho-educational

assessments in 30 days
• caseloads of 15 for learning

assistance teachers
• the requirement that the

employer plan a budget to
meet firm numbers.
Those gains are now gone.
The arbitrated awards form

part of B.C. case law. But the
language that gave rise to the
awards is now stripped from the
collective agreement.

Trade-offs are part of the
process of bargaining, and
trade-offs were made to achieve
class-size limits and other
provisions. Everything that we
gave up in the process of
bargaining is now added to the
loss.

Langley teachers fought hard
to achieve the “educational
heart” of the collective agree-
ment. We were motivated by the
need for standards that applied
to all teachers and set a level of
service that applied to all
students across the district. As
well, we were motivated by the
need to establish conditions that
enabled us to do our work.

Levels of service are now
gone, and we know what is

happening to our work.
Diane Gorton, president of the

LTA from 1991 to 1994, says,
“This is a waste. Fewer children
will be well educated. Teachers
can’t be as involved with
students when they have
responsibility for too many
individuals and face too many
demands.”

…we witnessed
the most chaotic
school opening in

memory.

She adds, “If we don’t look
after some children while they
are in the school system with
one-on-one instruction, special
classes, and smaller classes,
statistically, we know they will
end up as a cost to the justice
system. They are more likely to
be under or unemployed and be
victims of poverty. They may
suffer poor health and be more

reliant on social services. One
way or another, we, as a society,
pay for neglect.”

One way we sought to look
after students’ needs was
through the work of the school-
based teams. We had a process
for professional decision-making
when students with special
needs were integrated into
regular classes. Decisions were
made based on the educational
needs of the students. Regular
classes were smaller to
accommodate integration. That
language in the collective
agreement is now gone.

The provisions of the
collective agreement required a
certain level of funding. These
provisions allowed planning
and, thereby, provided stability.
The class-size and caseload
numbers determined the staffing
levels based on student
enrolment. As a result, the start
of each new school year was
orderly. With the provisions
stripped out of the agreement
things are different. Planning,
stability, and predictable
funding levels are in the past
now, and we witnessed the most
chaotic school opening in
memory.

Sharon von Hollen, current
president of the LTA, says, “This
September, many hours of
school were lost due to
unprecedented disorganization.”

The provisions of the
collective agreement set up
equal working conditions for
teachers across the district.
That equality eliminated the
extreme differences in class
sizes, caseloads, and workloads
we had before the collective
agreement. It helped establish
positive working relationships
among colleagues and between
teachers and administrators.

With those provisions
stripped, we see a predictable
increase in extreme differences
in working conditions again.
This situation will increase
allegations of favouritism and,
conversely, harassment.

As a union, we rely on two

vehicles for problem solving and
improving conditions of employ-
ment: the grievance procedure
and collective bargaining.
Through collective bargaining,
we hoped to achieve improve-
ments to class size, caseload,
and workload to meet the
growing demands on us within
the public education system.
With the “educational heart” of
the collective agreement gutted,
that way is now lost. Problems
will fester and grow.

The protections in the collec-
tive agreement prevented and
alleviated some of the problems.
Von Hollen predicts, “Teachers
will suffer mental, emotional,
and physical ill health because
of the worsening conditions.
This is tragic. And employers
bear responsibility for this
tragedy.”

During the last decade across
B.C., administrators said they
couldn’t manage the provisions
of the collective agreement.

“…teachers and
students have lost

rights and
protections.”

The cost of what
we have lost is far-

reaching and
incalculable.

School boards directed their
bargaining agent to have the
collective agreement stripped.
Last year, the government
obliged.

Jean Chan, president of the
LTA from 1997 to 2000, makes
this observation: “When some-
one gains, someone else loses.
Management and government
have gained power and control;
teachers and students have lost
rights and protections.”

The cost of what we have lost
is far-reaching and incalculable.

Teri Sobo works at Milner
Special Services, Langley.

Teacher research teams plan for BCTF 
special ed/ESL projects 

T
eams of teacher
researchers have met in
Coquitlam and Nanaimo
to plan and carry out

special education and ESL
research that will monitor the
effects of change in the two
districts and examine the role of
specialist teachers.

The Nanaimo group includes
Donna Allen, Judy Brayden,
Dave Cutts, Lois Gair, Bob
Esliger, Maureen Hancock, and
Patricia Joly. In Coquitlam,
teachers involved are Deborah
Burchill, Carol-Anne de
Balinhard, Shannon Joba, Sean
Lenihan, Daphne Mercier,
Joanna Perley, Donna Schaefer,
Jill Sully, and Nadine Tambellini.
Chris King, at the CTA, and
Lydia Picucha, at the NDTA,
provide support from the local.

The research teams have
identified schools in each district
from which data will be
collected. The schools reflect
each district’s geography,
communities, and school

structures. Coquitlam schools
where we hope to collect data
will be Central, Porter, and Glen
elementary schools, Summit and
Kwayquitlam middle schools,
and Terry Fox and Pinetree
secondary schools. In Nanaimo,
the schools will be Georgia
Avenue, Forest Park, and
McGirr elementary schools,
Nanaimo and District Secondary
School, Dover and either
Ladysmith or Cedar secondary
schools.

Data will include a survey of
teachers in those schools,
interviews with some staff,
especially ESL specialists and
special ed support teachers, and
short case studies of the schools
with additional data such as
staffing levels and class size and
composition. Other data will be
collected across the whole
district, including community
and school district profiles,
mapping ESL and special ed
enrolment by school, and
accessing data from the 1701

September 30 data collection.
Teachers from Nanaimo,
Coquitlam, or any other B.C.
district will also be able to
comment on special education
and ESL issues on a web
conference system.

Four focus groups have taken
place to date, three in Coquitlam
and one in Nanaimo, three with
classroom and specialist support
teachers, and one with parents
of students with special needs.
Draft reports have been written
and sent to participants prior to
being published by the BCTF in
2003. Many thanks to over 40
teachers and parents who have
turned out to date to provide
input to the focus groups—there
were some great perspectives
shared. Thanks also to culinary
teacher Bert Gibson at Glen-
eagle Secondary School, in
Coquitlam, for excellent
catering.

We are launching a web
conference site where a teacher
in either district, or anywhere in

B.C., can access the web
conference site.

If you have a comment or
perspectives that you want to
share on inclusion or ESL issues,
go to http://discuss.bctf.ca/
webboard/wbpx.isa/~education.

This project in both districts is
like a complicated jigsaw puzzle,
gradually putting a wide range
of data together to enable
teachers, locals, the BCTF, and
school boards to see a
comprehensive picture of what
is happening in our schools this
school year. Although the focus
is on special education and ESL,
we believe that the changes
affect every teacher and may
affect most students’ learning.
The local and the BCTF need
information about what is
happening in our schools in
order to understand the effects
on teachers, students, and
families.

If you are a teacher in one of
the schools where data is being
collected, we ask that you

support this research by co-
operating with our team of
teacher researchers as they
collect data. If you are a teacher
in either district, share your
perspectives in our web confer-
ence. If you are a teacher
elsewhere in B.C., we’d appreci-
ate hearing how the data from
the two districts in our study
compare with your experiences
this school year. Local teacher
associations and the BCTF
cannot make a case for change
unless we have evidence to
make that case. Tell us how the
changes are affecting your work
and the learning of students. 

For more information on this
project, please contact Charlie
Naylor, BCTF Research,
cnaylor@bctf.ca, Chris King at
the Coquitlam Teachers’
Association, CKing@sd43.bc.ca,
or Lydia Picucha at the Nanaimo
& District Teachers’ Association
lx68@bctf.ca.

– Charlie Naylor, BCTF Research
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Class size counts
by Constance Rulka

J
esus actually fed the five
thousand. He also cured
their diseases; but he did
not teach them. However,

some people (including Christy
Clark, I am sure) have got His
activities confused, and assert
with confidence that the best
and most effective of all
teachers was not handicapped
by the size of the audience. They
say that the lesson He taught
that day impressed itself on
every mind of whatever calibre;
and however many of the words
may have been inaudible (the
accoustics cannot have been
very good between the lake-
shore and the mountains) the
sense was clear. This was
fortunate, since the greatest
teacher suffered the added
disadvantage of not having a
pedagogue somewhere in the
U.S., carrying out tests and
sending back an analysis to
present a convincing conclusion
such as we have in Canada.

Having seen the masses fed
down by the lake, Jesus
withdrew from the crowds, went
up to the mountainside, and
settled himself in an isolated
spot where he could be at ease
with the class he had chosen to
hear his instruction—a dozen
men, hand-picked, who would
ask him questions, and who
could learn from parables suited
to their lifestyles. The two topics
for that day were the Beatitudes

and the Lord’s Prayer. Both have
survived the intervening 2,000
years, so that class must have
had many of the right elements.
It was made up of 12 disciples at
the most, since there is some
controversy about whether all of
the chosen had yet joined the
group.

Perhaps it is just as well that
Ms. Clark and her ideas were
not around even earlier than
that—about 400 years earlier—
or even the basic Socratic
method of arriving at truth
might not have come into being.
Socrates’ pupil, Plato, wrote
down some of the dialogues by
which his master revealed,
through question and answer,
the errors of his students’
thinking about ethics, politics,
and the principles by which we
live. Had she penetrated into the
groves of academe, Ms. Clark
could not have approved of
those one-on-one discussions in
search of truth—so difficult to
conduct in a regular-sized class.
It is only too obvious that Ms.
Clark would have been delighted
with the more lucrative teaching
practices of the Sophists, whom
Socrates so much deplored.
Those teachers were highly paid
by their pupils.

That politicians have not
changed much is re-emphasized
by Socrates’ being condemned
to drink hemlock for “corrupting
the youth of Athens.” How lucky
we are that our own youth are
incorruptible.

The emphasis in the Middle
Ages was on training for adult
occupations, and the classes
were still small. The trade guilds
managed their apprentices
through a complicated system
that controlled prices and
standards of goods, and
incidentally controlled the
behaviour of the youth. The
novitiates in the monasteries
took care of the few who needed
to learn to read and write, and
the young nobles learned social
behaviour as pages and the
martial arts through the stages
to knighthood. Even the
appearance of the universities
around the 14th century did
little to disturb the pattern.

That brief overview should be
enough to set the scene, and it
has a disturbing element.
Certainly there has been more
to learn, especially since the
Industrial Revolution, but we
are no longer looking for basic
truths and such guiding
principles as will improve
human life. Some would now
like to treat education as a
commodity to be bought and
sold. They have found some-
thing else to market and want to
make profits from it. The fact
that it is an indispensable
commodity that will increase the
gap between the haves and the
have-nots should make us think
again.

Constance Rulka is a retired
teacher and Howe Sound school
trustee.

In memoriam

by Ken Novakowski

J
im Killeen was a teacher, a
principal, and a leader, and
he was always a colleague.
Jim died in October 2002 at

the age of 68, leaving behind
many loving family members
and good friends. He also left a
rich legacy of contributions to
public education and to the lives
of teachers in B.C., across
Canada, and around the world.
Killeen served as president of
the BCTF (1969–71), the
Canadian Teachers’ Federation
(1973–74), and the World
Confederation of Organizations
of the Teaching Profession
(1982–84). He received many
honours, including the BCTF’s
G.A. Fergusson Memorial Award
(1986). I knew Jim Killeen
through annual get-togethers of
past presidents of the
Federation that take place
during the BCTF AGM. But not
until I read the many letters of
recommendation in support of
Jim Killeen’s nomination for the
G.A. Fergusson Memorial Award
did I realize the breadth and
extent of his contribution to
teachers and public education. 

His contribution to the
development of the B.C.
Teachers’ Federation and the
welfare of its members is
significant. He was the first full-
time president to serve two
terms, and it was during his
presidency and largely of his
doing that the elected officers of
the Federation established their
role as the public spokespersons
on behalf of teachers and the
key decision-makers in the
operation of the organization.
Norm Ornes, a friend and fellow
activist with Killeen, wrote,
“During Jim’s presidency, the
roles of those appointed to serve
relative to those elected went
through a gradual evolution that
placed more effective power,
authority, responsibility, and
control in the hands of those
elected.”

BCTF leaders like Jim Killeen
led the struggle toward the
positive state of teacher pen-
sions today. Jim led the first
province-wide strike of teachers
on March 19, 1971, to focus
public attention on the disgrace-
ful plight of retired colleagues.
Not only did the strike help
bring about improved teacher
pensions, but it was also a major
contributing factor to the defeat
of the government in the
election held the following year.
The most fitting tribute to Jim

Killeen’s work in education is to
use the words of those who
knew him and his work well.
These words were written in
1986:

“But it was not just Canada’s
turn at leadership of WCOTP
that got Jim elected to the
presidency; it was his own
qualities, which have in turn
enhanced Canada’s image in
world teaching, especially in
teacher aid to under-developed
regions and in support of victims
of oppression.” Tom Hutchison,
BCTF president 1968–69

“Few school staffs, if any, are
as loyal to and supportive of
their principals as are Jim’s
colleagues—and that has been
the case regardless of the school
in which he has served. And few
school principals have the
affection and support of
students to the degree Jim has.”
Ken Aitchison, BCTF president
1961–62

“All who have worked with
Jim at any level admire the
capable manner in which he
discharged his increasing
responsibilities in ever widening
educational circles. They all
testify to his inner sincerity, his
unshakable courage, his trans-
parent honesty, his refreshing
common sense, and his never
failing sense of humour.” Eric
Kelly, school administrator

“I share with so many who
have worked closely with Jim
and we shall always recall those
times when things were difficult
and we were despondent. The
odds were heavy against us.
There was a quick one-liner—
the Irish wit—and we would
laugh and push ahead. Jim is a
true leader. He builds confi-
dence in others.” Frances
Worledge, executive colleague

“Jim is a consummate politi-
cian and in the teaching game
which is filled with political
agendas, I can truthfully state
that number one on his agenda
has always been the well being
of the public education system.”
Bill Davison, president of
Vancouver Secondary Teachers’
Association, 1980–82

“Jim is a listener in the fullest
learning sense of that word: one
willing to hear, examine, reflect
on what has been said, search
beyond content for tone and
nuance, and seek to understand
what is really being communi-
cated. Jim screens out
phoniness and irrelevancies
very quickly but is patient with
those who are less swift than
himself or hold views that differ
from his own. He has a fine
compassionate ear for those in
need and a cynical, discerning
one for the pompous, powerful,
or pretentious.” James Cairnie,
BCTF president 1963–64

“No WCOTP president has
kept himself so fully informed of
the events and activities of the
Confederation, or has made
himself so readily available for
consultation. At major WCOTP
conferences in Europe, Asia,
Africa, and North America, and
on visits to member organiza-
tions from Washington to Fiji,
Jim has fulfilled expectations of
dynamic leadership. He has
taken the message of WCOTP to
the Director General of the
International Labour Organiza-
tion and the Secretary General
of the United Nations, and
spoken up for eight million
teacher members at the General
Conference of UNESCO.” Norm
Goble, WCOTP secretary general

Ken Novakowski is the BCTF’s
executive director.

Mike Lombardi

T
he deans of the faculties
of education in B.C. have
asked the provincial
government to amend the

Teaching Profession Act (TPA) to
remove from the B.C. College of
Teachers (BCCT) the approval
function of teacher-education
programs. The deans have also
asked the government to change
the composition of the college.

The deans believe that the
BCCT has unreasonably
intruded into the administration
of teacher-education programs
at the universities and university
colleges. They believe that the
BCCT should no longer involve
itself in the approval of teacher-
education programs.

The BCCT is made up largely
of practising teachers. It is
entirely appropriate that the
approval body for teachers
comprises professionals who
actually teach and work with
students.

The BCCT guidelines for
approving teacher-education
programs have been in place for
more than eight years. They
were developed by the BCCT in
consultation with the education
partners and the teacher-
education institutions. The BCCT
guidelines have been used to
consider new teacher-education
programs at all the universities
and university colleges in the
province.

The proposal from the deans
calls for the BCCT to be removed
from the teacher-education
program approval process. The
BCCT would be reduced to, at
best, co-operating with teacher-
education institutions in the
review of teacher-education
programs. The college would

have much diminished influence
over the education of future
members. This is inconsistent
with the pattern of teacher-
education approval in most
jurisdictions in North America.
Most jurisdictions recognize the
importance of approving
teacher-education programs and
have some form of approval
process. One of the main
reasons for establishing the
college was to set standards for
the education of teachers. 

Continuing to entrust the
approval function with the
college also makes sense from
an economic perspective. It is a
very effective and efficient
process for determining who
should be awarded teaching
certificates in the province of
B.C. In practical terms, when
the college approves a teacher-
education program, it pre-
approves the graduates who
obtain their degrees from that
university. If the college does not
approve teacher-education
programs, then the existing
streamlined process would have
to be replaced with some other
method to evaluate graduates. 

The BCCT teacher-education
approval process provides a
consistent province-wide frame-
work for the approval of
teacher-education programs. We
support a province-wide
framework and would be
extremely concerned if each
teacher-education institution
were to develop its own criteria.
The teachers of B.C. believe that
a consistent teacher-education
approval process must be in
place. Further, we believe that
the process should be overseen
by the BCCT, the professional
body that is required to consider
the public interest when

discharging its responsibilities.
The present BCCT framework

allows the teaching profession,
with representation from the
public, to set standards for
teacher education.

The BCTF also opposes the
recommendation of the deans
that calls for changes to the
composition of the College
Council. The council currently
consists of 15 elected and five
appointed members. This
balance of elected and
appointed members is generally
consistent with the composition
of other self-regulating profes-
sional bodies in the province.

The large majority of college
members are practising
teachers. Any member of the
college is eligible to put his/her
name forth for one of the elected
positions on the council. During
the past years, elected members
have been teachers and admini-
strators. In addition, some
independent-school personnel,
retired superintendents, and
parents have been appointed to
the council. We see no reason to
change the composition of the
College Council.

The BCTF has informed the
minister of education that we
are opposed to the proposed
amendments to the Teaching
Profession Act. We believe that
the B.C. College of Teachers is
the most appropriate body to
review and approve teacher-
education programs in the
province. We are also opposed
to the deans’ call for changes to
the composition of the College
Council.

Mike Lombardi is an assistant
director in the BCTF’s
Professional and Social Issues
Division.

Jim Killeen

College role in teacher 
education under attack
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Safety is your business–
Know your rights!

by Maureen L. MacDonald

Y
ou have rights. It’s the
law. You have the right
to know about dangers
in your workplace. You

have the right to participate in
worksite health and safety
activities through the joint
Occupational Health & Safety
Committee or worker repre-
sentative. You have the right to
have worker representation at
worksite inspections. You have
the right to refuse unsafe work.
You have the right to no
discrimination for participating
in health and safety activities.

Safety is your business. It is
also the business of school
boards. No one’s best interests
are served if the safety of
students and staff is not a
priority in schools. Why, then,
do we continue to have unsafe
situations dealt with inconsis-
tently? Why do we have to fight
the same battles over and over
again? Let’s consider some
recent actual events and learn
from them.

Too cold for comfort
The principal of an elemen-

tary school called everyone to
an assembly one winter after-
noon and said that the students
and staff were to dress warmly
for school the next day because
there would be no heat. Oh,
really? The furnace was to be
serviced as part of a regular
maintenance program. At the
time, the outdoor temperature
was 14º C. Did the school board
expect that students could
actually learn readin’, writin’,
and ‘rithmetic while fighting
hypothermia? Did it think that
teachers should just cope with
the cold and not complain? WCB
Regulation 4.80 requires the
employer to ensure that
temperature and humidity levels
within the indoor work
environment be maintained
within acceptable comfort
ranges. In winter, that means
between 20.5 and 24.4º C (69 to
76º F). Many collective agree-
ments between teachers and
boards contain a health and
safety clause similar to this
excellent one from North
Vancouver: “Classes shall be
conducted only in facilities that
are clean and where tempera-
ture, ventilation, lighting,
humidity, sound level, and other
physical conditions are hygienic,
safe, and conducive to effective
teaching and learning.”

Teachers don’t have to put up
with untenable conditions for
themselves or others at work.
That staff knew it. Refuse unsafe
work. It’s your right. When you
do that, you don’t refuse to work
entirely. You are ready and
available to do your work in safe
conditions; you just refuse to do
the unsafe work. You could be
temporarily assigned to work
elsewhere, or you might be sent
home. Read all about it in WCB
Regulation 3.12.

Refusal of unsafe work
A school staff was informed

after school that the water was
to be shut off in the building the
next day. There was a smell of
methane gas. The septic sewer
system needed repairs. The
students were all phoned at
home and told not to go to
school the next day. (All the

families had phones; that is not
always the case. But that’s
another story.) The staff mem-
bers were told to be there at
8:30 a.m. Oh really? According
to WCB Regulation 4.93, the
employer must provide wash-
rooms with hot and cold running
water. And it goes without
saying that the air must be
breathable! Teachers and
support staff met in the parking
lot the next morning and then
informed the principal, who was
in the office, that they were
ready to be reassigned to the
board office or elsewhere for the
day. The smell of methane had
gone away overnight, so
permission was given for staff
members to go into the school
and gather items they needed to
work at home. Refusal of unsafe
work protected them from
several potential hazards. That
staff knew it.

Violent incident reports
A school board decided not to

replace absent special education
assistants. Several violent
incidents occurred as a result.
One principal expects teachers
to “fill in.” Oh really? Can the
classroom teacher be everything
to everybody? There are very
good reasons why some students
have SEAs. The union is
insisting that a violence risk
assessment be done, as is
required in WCB Regulation
4.28. The requirement has been
in effect since 1994. The whole
staff needs to know which
students might injure
themselves or others. The IEPs
of those students with special
needs must contain a safety
plan. Reg. 4.31 says that
incidents of violence must by
reported and investigated
according to Part 3 of the
Workers Compensation Act,
General Duties of Employers,
Workers, and Others. Corrective
actions must be taken. The
employer must ensure that a
worker reporting an injury or
adverse symptom as a result of
a violent incident is advised to
consult a physician of the

worker’s choice for treatment or
referral. A principal cannot
dismiss a teacher’s complaint of
violence as trivial or
inconsequential. That staff
knows it now.

Working alone
Parent/teacher interviews

were being conducted from 3:00
p.m. to 9:00 p.m. A teacher in
an isolated portable didn’t feel
safe. The principal told her to
stay out there on duty until 9:00
p.m., even though there was no
communications link to the main
building. Oh really? Couldn’t she
conduct her interviews in the
safety of the library, the
staffroom, the front hallway, or
even the principal’s office? If
not, why wasn’t someone
assigned to check the portable
at intervals to see if she was
okay? That won’t happen to the
teacher again. The union is
insisting that the WCB Regula-
tion 4.21 regarding working
alone or in isolation be followed.
The employer is required to
develop and implement a
written procedure for checking
the well-being of a worker
assigned to work alone or in
isolation under conditions that
present a risk of disabling
injury, if the worker might not
be able to secure assistance in
the event of injury or other
misfortune. A worker required
to work in such circumstances,
and any person assigned to
check on the worker, must be
trained in the written procedure
for checking the worker’s well-
being. That staff knows it now.

How to get informed
I’m not making this stuff up!

Read the rules for yourself. The
title of the fascinating Workers’
Compensation Board publication
you need for reference is
Occupational Health & Safety
Regulation, Book 1. It is a blue-
covered 8.5”x11” WorkSafe
book that you should be able to
find in your staffroom. If you
can’t find the book there, look
for a notice of where it is
located. That should be promin-

ently displayed on the bulletin
board that also has posted the
names and work locations of the
school’s joint committee mem-
bers and the minutes of the
three most recent joint commit-
tee meetings. Section 138 of the
Workers Compensation Act
(hereinafter called the Act)
requires those notices.

Worksite health and 
safety committees

Section 125 of the Act says
that a joint health and safety
committee must exist in your
school if there are 20 or more
workers of the employer there.
That count includes SEAs,
secretaries, custodians,
teachers, administrative
officers, and any other school
board staff who work there.
Section 139 requires a worker
health and safety representative
for a workplace with more than
nine but fewer than 20 workers.
Regulation 3.2 allows a less
formal situation in schools with
nine or fewer workers, but the
employer still must conduct
monthly meetings with workers
for discussion of health and
safety matters. The school board
is obliged in Section 136 to
support the health and safety
committee or its equivalent in
carrying out its duties. What are
the duties? See the list in
Section 130 of the Act.

Are you overwhelmed?
Fear not. You don’t have to

know all the rules and regs. You
just have to know that they exist
for your protection. Don’t just
scratch your head or mutter
under your breath if you per-
ceive a health and safety prob-
lem. Call on your local president
for advice. Your president
knows how to reach me or other
BCTF field service or health and
safety or legal staff members for
help. Assistance is available if
you want to know about filing a
WCB claim, conducting a
worksite inspection, organizing
a joint committee, or finding any
other information you need.
Your president also knows that
the toll free phone number for
the WCB prevention office is 1-
888-276-SAFE (7233). And that
the WCB web site is
www.worksafebc.com.

Training for health 
and safety reps

The BCTF has several
wonderfully empowering
workshops for school health and
safety reps. Talk to your local
president about both WorkSafe
and School Union Rep Training.
It is not too late for your local to
arrange for a health and safety
trainer to come to your district.

Conclusion
Education is best delivered in

a safe environment. Worksites
are safer when we are all
vigilant. Teachers’ working
conditions are students’ learning
conditions. Let’s all keep an eye
out for ways to make improve-
ments. Be safe out there.

Maureen MacDonald is a BCTF
health and safety officer.

If you would like your name added
to the BCTF occupational health
and safety e-mail list, contact
Peggy Wilson pwilson@bctf.ca or
Whitney Burgess wburgess@bctf.
ca.

“Our isolated school has
served the families of this small
community on Northern
Vancouver Island for the past 99
years. Traditionally the majority
of families living here have
worked in the basic resource
industries—logging, mining, and
fishing. (B.C.’s economy is
largely founded on these
committed families who are
willing to work in rural or
remote settings, with minimal
services and luxuries for
themselves and their children,
producing the raw material for
workers living in the larger
urban areas to process, refine,
and export). Our families need
the government’s assurance that
our children will not be deprived
in any way from getting a stable,
high-quality education from
well-trained teachers within this
community. 

“My husband’s two uncles
went to school here in the
1920s, my husband in the
1960s, and our two daughters in
the 1980s and 1990s, and our
son is doing his Grade 7 year
here now. Our girls both
attended UBC—one earned a
forestry degree, and the other is
finishing her engineering
degree. We are very proud of
their accomplishments and are
very grateful for the good start
they had in their school here in
this small isolated community.”

– Gwen Hansen, parent,
Quatsino

“My three children all
attended and graduated from
Big Bar Elementary School,
They graduated from David
Stoddart High School and Peter
Ogden High School. Our children
had no trouble adapting to far
larger schools. We believe that
this was by virtue of the
excellent teaching and
instruction given by the staff of
Big Bar Elementary School. Our
children were by no means
hindered in a one-room school;
instead they were given a high-
quality education that has suited
them well. Our oldest son has
since become a journeyman
carpenter, certified to practise
throughout B.C. and Canada.
Our daughter is enrolled in
Tourism Management, and our
youngest son is a professional
snowboarder...”

– David and Claudette Garrett,
parents, Big Bar, B.C. 

“I’m now in my 14th year
teaching at Big Bar School, and
I’ve seen a great variety of kids
pass through on their way to
life. A few have not finished high
school, but the majority have
graduated, and a number of

Submissions
to the 
Task Force 
on Rural
Education
in B.C.
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those are at university now. My
own three children all attended
Big Bar School. My older son is
a commercial pilot. My younger
son is working on his master’s
degree in aerospace engineer-
ing, and my daughter is in the
navy preparing for a career in
communications. Very diverse,
yet all attended the same small
rural school. 

“It’s critical that children be
educated in their home com-
munities, and to that end, we
must examine every way pos-
sible to sustain our rural and
remote schools. We need to be
creative and flexible in meeting
the needs of rural people in
order to make our schools
work.”

– Dodie Eyer, teacher, 
Big Bar, B.C.

“I have seen these children
contribute above and beyond
what most school children
would do to get to school. The
road that they must travel is a
dangerous one-lane road...
switchbacks, a steep grade, and
inclement weather make it
treacherous. This road receives
one road grade per annum;
snow removal or other mainten-
ance does not occur. After one
Christmas break, I watched the
Cable school children work until
11:00 p.m. to make this same
road passable for school the
following day. With five-gallon
buckets of sand, rakes, shovels,
and old fashioned grit, they did
make the school bus on time. On
occasion, they will also ride
their horses down 11 rugged
kilometres, where they must
corral their horses then walk
the last kilometre to the Big Bar
Ferry to catch the school bus.

“The other family have only a
four-kilometre distance to get
their three children to the ferry,

A teacher responds to a student
teacher’s questions

Question posted to the BCTF PD
issues e-mail list by a student
teacher

“What defines a professional:
autonomy, specific body of
knowledge, self-regulation, and
code of ethics. My question is
how much autonomy do
teachers really have? They don’t
make the conditions that they
work in or determine them, the
BCTF does this for us.”

Response from Kathryn Askew,
teacher, Courtenay

I’m proud of you for seeking
information about our profes-
sion from teachers. Just because
your professor is a superinten-
dent, doesn’t mean he/she has
the whole picture. I’ll try to
respond to your question
according to the language you
use, and I hope that others on
this list will clarify, correct, and
add to my reflections.

Autonomy
First, a disclaimer: I do not

teach any subjects at the Grade
12 level. If I did, I would have
little autonomy in British
Columbia. All examinable
subjects in this province require
that a teacher budget every
classroom minute to ensure that
the students can pass an
external exam.

I am an elementary teacher.
Every day, at the end of the day,
I get to decide what to teach the
following day. In theory, I will
choose only activities that match
the “new” IRPs. In practice, I
choose activities that follow the
current day’s understandings
and that reflect what I believe
the kids need to know next. After
23 years teaching kids from
Grades K to 7, I have a definite
bias about what matters. My
autonomy is very strong.

Only I can truly
know what the

children in my care
most need to know

(as a group).
I believe that the teacher IS

the curriculum. It’s my responsi-
bility to determine what the
children in my care most need
to know (as a group). Individual
parents have taught their
children many things. Past
teachers have followed the
curriculum, and the children all
know some things in common.
The artistry of my job is to
determine what has been
missed, what is needed, and
what makes sense for this
particular grade or subject
within the context of the
provincial curriculum and the
society in which these kids live.

Specific body of knowledge
There is no way on earth that

I wanted to be a teacher. School
was incredibly boring to me.
Teachers were told what
courses to take in university. No
one was going to tell me what to
study! So I did a Bachelor of
Arts: studied linguistics and
classics and anthropology and
sociology and psychology and
French and German and
aesthetics and a whole flock of
English courses (no sciences, no
history or geography, no
physical education, very little
math). I graduated with no
concept of “job.” I worked for

Self-regulation
Within the school day, I have

absolute control over the hours I
spend with my kids. 

Well, not exactly.
Some of my kids are pulled

out for special programs:
learning assistance, gifted and
talented, speech therapy. And
there are some guidelines about
how many hours we spend on
each subject. This is more
challenging for teachers (like
me!) who regularly integrate
various subject areas.

But at the end of the contact
hours, I can structure my non-
contact hours as I like.

Well, not exactly.
Every two weeks, my

Tuesdays are filled with staff
meetings. And in between, I
need to meet with the school-
based team (over children with
unique learning needs), with
colleagues in committees I have
volunteered to join (professional
development, wellness, social
studies development), with
colleagues whose support I need
for various projects (music,
drama, guided reading, various
sports activities), and with
parents who want to know why
their child doesn’t do home-
work, why their child is not
excelling at math, why their
child is needing learning
assistance when he or she was
getting “good marks” in Alberta
or Ontario, etc.

But after that, my time is free
to do the other work I need to
do.

Well, not exactly.
Most days, I can’t extricate

myself from the school before
5:00 p.m. because of all the
meetings listed above, but I still
have marking and planning to
do. If I were to do the marking
with the students (a practice
considered very beneficial to
students because then they have
immediate feedback on what
they have just attempted) I
would have little or no time left
for a subsequent lesson. I can do
this kind of marking only
occasionally. Truth is, I do much
of my marking and all of my
planning in the evenings and on
weekends. I regularly spend
four to six hours at school on a
weekend just getting caught up.
And this after 23 years.

What else is involved in self-
regulation? Many professionals

As teachers, we
believe that no one

is better at
determining what

professional
development

activities teachers
want and need.

the federal government and for
Sears. I had two children, and
suddenly children became far
more interesting to me. I
returned to university for a one-
year education program,
focussed on primary education
and music, and have never
looked back. I did teach primary
for four of my 23 years. I have
never directly used my music
training. Instead I became a
French specialist and then
taught at the intermediate
level... So much for “specific
body of knowledge!”

can charge a fee commensurate
with their costs. Let’s say that a
day-care provider charges $5
per hour for “baby-sitting” (and
that’s pretty low) to cover
overhead, government and local
licenses, fees and paperwork,
and actual hourly wages—self
and other employees.

I have the kids from 8:30 a.m.
to 2:30 p.m., with 60 minutes off
for recess and lunch. So, I work
directly with the kids for five
hours per day (not including
marking, meeting, and prepara-
tion time). I have 23 kids this
year. So do the math: I should be
making $575 per day (plus pay
for meetings, marking, and
planning). At the top of the pay
scale in my district (because I
have a Bachelor of Arts plus a
Diploma in Education plus a
Master of Arts in Education
degree), I earn $66,959 per
year. That’s $6,695.90 per
month (because we do not get
paid in July and August). My
take-home pay per month is
$4,653.35. If you were to divide
that net amount by the average
of 20 school days in a month, I
would earn $233.66 per day.
Plus benefits. Minus the dollars I
try to save each month to pay
the bills in July and August.

I would not do this work if I
did not believe that the pay was
worth the work. However, there
are days I envy babysitters.

Another area of self-regula-
tion rests within the BCTF and
the B.C. College of Teachers. As
teachers, we believe that no one
is better at determining what
professional development
activities teachers want and
need. So, we regularly canvass
our members to find out what
they most want to know. We
develop workshops in those
areas, and we offer them free of
charge to school staffs and other
groups around the province. We
also bargain with our employer
to provide funds to attend other
workshops and conferences and
to provide non-instructional
days (five or six per district) to
provide those opportunities to
teachers within their work year.

Code of ethics
In terms of discipline, the

BCTF’s Code of Ethics helps us
to deal with one another in
appropriate and ethical ways.
Should one of us step over those
boundaries, the BCTF Judicial
Council has the authority to
suspend or cancel our member-
ship in the B.C. Teachers’
Federation. In addition, the B.C.
College of Teachers reviews all
disciplinary decisions made by
school boards and has the
authority to suspend or cancel
our membership in that
organization (which includes
principals, vice-principals, and
some school-board office staff,
such as superintendents). While
those decisions were once made
by a division of the provincial
government, they are now made
by the majority of teaching
peers on those two official
bodies. So, unless the current
Liberal government decides to
change the arrangements, we do
have some self-regulation
function here.

“[Teachers] don’t make the
conditions they work in or
determine them...”

Actually, we have had an
incredibly successful record

here. I don’t know (nor would I
want to know) a teacher who
hasn’t met an untenable learn-
ing condition for a student
without saying and doing some-
thing to improve the situation
for that student. Teachers are
actually the only people in the
system who do make changes to
the system. Now, that’s not to
say that others don’t constantly
try to change things! Economics
and political realities create all
sorts of “new” projects,
schemes, curriculum changes,
accountability contracts,
budgets, and other initiatives
intended to show some sort of
improvement within the B.C.
system. And that’s not to say
that some (non-teacher) people
haven’t had some great ideas
about change. But nothing is
really going to change at the
classroom level unless teachers
see the need for it and are
convinced that the results are
worth it and know how to effect
the change!

Politicians and
governments by
their very nature

want to set 
their own stamp 

on the world.
Politicians and governments

by their very nature want to set
their own stamp on the world. It
is the job of the teacher to sort
through the details of any
change and ask: Is this good? If
so, why? And if so, how will I do
it? And once I’ve done it, then
what?

I actually don’t know many
teachers (although I do know
some!) who say, “Now that
we’ve figured out what the next
step is gonna be, how will we
measure our success, and whom
will we tell?”

“The BCTF does this for us...”
Thanks for saving my

favourite part for last.
I am the BCTF. As soon as you

have a contract with a school
board, you will be the BCTF.

The minute that we as
teachers start to think that they
are doing something to us, we
lose any sort of professionalism
that we might have thought we
had.

To think of the BCTF as
“them” is to fall into the role of
the disenfrachised, the
employees, the victims.

I have some baggage here. My
first year as a teacher I was
tricked into serving as staff rep
(shop steward). A 17-year
veteran informed me that a
tradition on their staff was to
have the newest person on staff
do the job of staff rep and I was
naive enough to fall for it. I have
been forever grateful to Wayne
Perrett for offering me that
position. I’ve been involved in
union work ever since, and my
union dues have come back to
support me as a teacher a
thousand-fold.

We only do to ourselves what
we want to do. Make sure you
attend an Annual General
Meeting the first chance you get.
It will take three plus days from
your spring holiday, and it might
be the most amazing three days
you will spend as a teacher in
B.C.

Good luck with your project.

cross the Fraser River, and meet
the school bus. Yet that four-
kilometre stretch of road is
atrocious... When their truck did
go perilously close to the Fraser
River, leaving them without
transportation, their oldest son
(age 10), doubled up his small
motorcycle with his youngest
brother to the ferry. Then he
would return home and double
up with his sister. He did that for
almost two weeks, temperatures
were -10ºC in the mornings. The
efforts of those children and
their families clearly shows that
they have contributed far above
and beyond the normal. They
should be applauded and
praised for their determination
to better themselves and their
families.

“We know that the Big Bar
School is expensive to operate;
however we also hope that you
will see the benefit that this
school brings to our families and
community, and will continue
education at the Big Bar
School.”

– David Garrett, operator of the
Big Bar reaction ferry

(the most remote ferry on the
Fraser River)

Reprinted from Rural Root,
newsletter of the B.C. Rural
Teachers’ Association.

To join the B.C. Rural Teachers’
Association, visit www.bctf.ca/
About/PSAs/
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Through the looking
glass: PD day 2006

by Pat Clarke

R
osy and her cronies at
Little Hollow Middle/
Secondary Alternative
School enjoyed their all

too infrequent school profes-
sional days. They provided a
break in the routine, and more
often than not, they came away
from the day rested if not
rejuvenated. She had been a
stalwart on the school’s PD
committee for at least five years
and had the wounds to show
for it. She had often reflected
on the incompatibility of the
concepts secondary school and
consensus. Nevertheless, apart
from the occasional dispute
over whether or not dog-
obedience training was
professional development, the
experience of organizing
professional development for
her colleagues had been
rewarding, and as far as she
was concerned, it had made
her a better, more thoughtful
teacher.

This PD day was different. She
and her committee hadn’t been
very involved in organizing it.
All she had done was call the
caterer to check on the lunch
order. It seemed to have been
organized around the committee
rather than with it. The pattern,
however, had become familiar.
Some members of the school’s
planning council (SPC) had been
engaged in a bit of a campaign
to “help the teachers be more
effective.” They had successfully
convinced the school’s admini-
stration that more parent
involvement in the school’s
classrooms would elevate the
quality of teaching at Little
Hollow. Rosy wasn’t so sure.

She wasn’t against parent
involvement; she had had
parents in her classroom for her
entire career. It was just that the
teachers seemed to be being led
rather than consulted on this
one. But this was not new. Over

the past five years, teachers
seemed to be two steps behind
some new scheme trying to fix
something that wasn’t broken.
The SPC, with which teachers
had initially co-operated, had
become increasingly bother-
some. Now, thanks to an
especially enthusiastic former
Montessori, immersion, distance
education, private school
teacher, and now parent leader
of the school, the SPC kept
popping up and into all manner
of school affairs including the

…they were all
completely

exasperated with
interminable
sessions that

seemed to have
more to do with the

school’s public
image than good

teaching.
content of the PD days.

She and her colleagues
seemed to have lost control of
what used to be teacher-
directed professional develop-
ment. Much of what they did in
what used to be PD was coming
from somewhere else. Certainly
the accountability contracts that
came in around 2001 had been
a major intrusion. She and the
other teachers in her school
were committed to improving

the school’s FSA results and
were more than co-operative
when school and district
administrators developed a
comprehensive staff-develop-
ment plan that focussed on
teaching to the FSAs. It seemed
like a good idea at the time.
Three years later, they were all
completely exasperated with
interminable sessions that
seemed to have more to do with
the school’s public image than
good teaching.

The real stake in the heart of
teacher-controlled PD, however,
was the “teacher supervision”
frenzy that started in 2003. She
suspected that the “helping
teachers be more effective” day
they were about to undergo was
a vestige of that leap into idiocy.
With virtually no evidence of a
need for intensifying teacher
supervision, a deluded faction of
the province’s so-called educa-
tion leaders had decided that
they needed to be in teachers’
classrooms a lot. They were
encouraged by a redesigned
College of Teachers that at the
same time embarked on
“Operation Fix the Teacher,”
scouring the province for minor
infractions and examples of
unprofessional conduct. It was a
pretext for shepherding
teachers into a college-
mandated-recertification
program that now, in 2006,
takes up most of the time
teachers have for what used to
be teacher-directed professional
development.

Rosy reflected on all of this
with more than a sense of
nostalgia for the good old days
of professional development by,
and for, teachers. The wisdom of
hindsight filled her mind with
second guesses and regrets. If
only they had been better
organized. If only they had
valued their professional
development. If only they had
found ways to change it, refocus
it, and make it better. If only
they had been more emphatic
that teacher-controlled
professional development is at
the heart of good teaching.
Professional development is
about teachers working with
teachers, teachers supporting
one another, solving problems,
and sharing ideas.

Almost all of that was gone as
they were frog-marched into yet
another day of someone else’s
idea of what they needed. For
Rosy, it had gone beyond being
frustrating; now it was a blatant
insult. Enough was enough. She
had a plan. She could raise the
concern in her local. She knew
that lots of other teachers
agreed with her and more and
more were coming to realize the
value of their union, their
collective, as a force for
professional leadership. They’d
had it once and lost it, but they
could get it back. Too bad they
hadn’t been so concerned in
2003.

Pat Clarke is director of the
BCTF’s Professional and Social
Issues Division.

An in-dwelling midst questions 
of student achievement

by Laura Wood Richter

A
t a district-wide orienta-
tion meeting for school
planning councils I
recently attended, the

language of “student achieve-
ment” came up again and again.
It was emphasized that school
planning councils have as their
main focus an improvement in
student achievement. This led
me to question what it is we
mean by student achievement
and how it is we plan to
measure an improvement or
lack thereof and the possible
implications of the understand-
ings and forms of measurement
we adopt. I am interested in
how we are to understand
student achievement within a
rapidly changing global context
into which our children will
constitute themselves as adults.

I begin my considerations
here with reference to Klein’s
Etymological Dictionary, where
I found the roots of the words in
question. The word student
comes to us from the Latin
studere, meaning “to apply
oneself to.” Achievement has its
roots in both the Old French
achiever, meaning to accomp-
lish, complete and in the Latin
accapare, meaning “to come to
an end.” Here we would be led
to understand that education
has an end, a place of closure.
Here student achievement
would be understood as a
measure of how much students
have grasped when they get to
the end.

This understanding of student
achievement is consistent with
the understanding of education
that led to the creation of the
first schools. The schools were
designed for indoctrinating
young people into the scripts
and religious texts of their time.
I feel a sense of unease here, a
discomfort with an understand-
ing of education concerned with
getting to the end—essentially a
hurrying us to a place where
nothing more is expected to
happen.

When we consider questions
in terms of ends, we are drawn
to the sorts of questions for
which an end is possible, to
those questions whose answers
we already know. These are the
kinds of questions that we can
use to quantitatively measure
student achievement. A measure
of student achievement in such
an understanding becomes a
measure of how well the
students grasp and demonstrate
that which is wholly outside of
them, that which already was
before them, and that which is
not altered by what it is they
have to offer. This is the meta-
phor of the student as an empty
vessel with the all-knowing
teacher pouring preconceived
knowledge in and the end—the
student achievement—can be
clearly measured by evaluating
how well students are able to
perform that which they have
grasped. Standardized exams
are useful in this context.

Here, improvements in
student achievement translate

into students’ grasping and
demonstrating their grasp of
ever-increasing bodies of
preconceived knowledge and
skills. Value placed in the results
of student achievement so
measured, lead the classroom
focus to shift further and further
toward the metaphor of students
as empty vessels and teachers
as holding all the answers.
Classroom time comes to be
dominated by teacher talk and
student memorization of
information and practice of
skills to be tested as teachers
and administrators strive to
better prepare their students to
be measured. What is seen to be
important is that which can and,
even more narrowly, that which
will be tested. This understand-
ing (or misunderstanding) of
education leads to cries for
tougher standards and more
standardized exams. Alfie Kohn,
an internationally recognized
educator, has devoted an entire
book (The Schools Our Children
Deserve: Moving Beyond
Traditional Classrooms and
“Tougher Standards”) to a
thoroughly researched and
dramatic critique of the
ineffectiveness at best of such
an approach to education.

We are struggling with many
issues: ethical, political,
economic, environmental,
scientific... Threats of violence
undermine our sense of security.
Our planet is undergoing
dramatic change in response to
the demands we have placed
upon it. Cries of “unsustainable”

echo and reverberate around
discussions of social programs,
natural resources, political
agreements... The way we are
living on this planet is itself
unsustainable, and for human
beings to be spared the status of
yet another species lost to
extinction, we are called to
make dramatic changes.

In the words of Albert
Einstein, “the problems that we
have created cannot be solved at
the level of thinking that created
them.” We are going to need to
make changes in ways we have
not yet considered. We do not
yet have the “correct” answers
to these important questions of
survival. We—including our
world’s experts—are not even
sure what questions to ask. And
as pedagogues in such times is it
not important that we stand
attuned to the quality of what is
happening in our schools such
that the very ways of being that
make possible new levels of
thinking are nourished and not
extinguished? Are we not called
to hold open classroom environ-
ments that would encourage a
student like Albert Einstein,
rather than find him unfit to be
taught?

Such an understanding of
student achievement, where
grasping and performing the
one correct, preconceived
answer dominates classroom
life, leaves no space for a lived
curriculum vibrant with
questioning, with interrogating
the status quo, with asking the
questions that spring forth from

each unique gathering of
teacher and students bringing
together diverse experiences
and perspectives. It leaves no
space for constituting and re-
constituting new ways of
understanding. It leaves no
space for understanding to wind
upwards, outwards, and down-
wards as understanding follows
considerations of implications in
the forming and re-forming of
our understandings. Such a
classroom space could not
tolerate the genius driving
Albert Einstein to question every
strand of the status quo, his
questioning threatening the very
fabric of education so under-
stood. And rather than risk the
unravelling of the tapestry,
Einstein was let go, excluded.
The problem was clearly and
unambiguously seen to be
Einstein’s refusal to conform
rather than a flaw in the
tapestry itself.

Here we stand, with so much
changing around us, and we are
called in our continuing leader-
ship as educators to consider
our educational tapestry. How
are we to understand student
achievement here? What place
in this tapestry are standardized
exams to hold? What is to be the
place of the strand concerned
with the one correct answer and
how are the other strands to
come together—strands of past
and present and strands not
yet?

Laura Wood Richter is a former
teacher whose children have
just entered the school system.
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The new class system 
at Canadian high schools

Sharing with teachers 
in the Americas

I
n my current incarnation as
a columnist with The Globe,
the three pieces to elicit the
most passionate reader

response have been: 
1. A pipe smoker questioning the
amount of public deference we
accord religious belief.
2. A cultural gripe suggesting
that Yesterday isn’t really a very
good song.
3. The piece that appeared last
week concerning proposed
changes in British Columbia
schools.

Make what you like of it, but
what astounds me is that the
latter column was about what I
thought to be a local issue.

…does the concept
that individuals 

can slot into
denominations like
coins in a vending
machine represent
the one model our

provincial
politicians

understand?
I have always found it

puzzling that education is a
provincial responsibility; all very
grassroots, but it also localizes
an institution that affects the
country as a whole—at least as
much as, say, agriculture—so
that by the time we acknowl-
edge a national trend, it may be
a done deal.

My complaint had to do with a
B.C. initiative in which children
at the age of 16 choose Pathway
Concentrations focussing them
in a specific career direction
and putting behind them other
interests they might have
pursued, such as fine arts. To
me, this presented the ominous
spectre of a class system based
upon artificially induced
personal horizons.

In response, a writer from
Quebec wryly observed that, as
a more advanced province, its
education department
introduced a system virtually
identical to the B.C. proposal
some 20 years ago, entitled
Collège d’Enseignement Général
et Professionnel. Apparently it’s
a disaster, in which only about a
quarter of students in the
General program graduate on
schedule. Remember the old
days when General was a
euphemism for Stupid? Talk
about self-fulfilling.

Next, I hear that Ontario has
created something called
Destination Streams—which are
like Pathway Concentrations,
only more wet and subject to the
pull of gravity. Apparently,
Ontario students who reach
Grade 8 must decide whether to
take Applied or Academic
courses in Grade 9. However, if
the student’s chosen Destination
Stream is university, he/she will
need at least an 85% average to
get in—if the family can afford it
at all. (I went to Mount Allison
on 65% in 1965.) Meanwhile,
about 20% can’t cope with the
curriculum as it is.

Which means about 63,000
kids currently in high school
have no hope of graduating, to
accompany B-average acade-
mics with no hope of getting into
university. Perhaps they can
team up on the planning and
execution of bank heists and
break-and-entry—there’s a

Destination Stream for you.
What’s going on? Is this an
attempt to lower wages through
supply and demand, by flooding
the market with labour? Or does
the concept that individuals can
slot into denominations like
coins in a vending machine
represent the one model our
provincial politicians
understand?

I’m reminded of the Laffer
Curve, an elegantly simple
economic model whose only
drawback is that it is false.
Nonetheless, the Laffer Curve
formed the basis for
Reaganomic—because it suited
Reagan’s personal ideology, and
because he could get his head
around it. Just as the Laffer
Curve appealed to Republicans
in the 1980s, just as phrenology
and eugenics appealed to
conservatives of the last two
centuries, I wonder if the theory
behind this trend in education
represents a similar attempt of
conservatives to remodel
Canadian civil society from the
ground up. After all, many
prominent and vocal Canadians
don’t like Canada much. Their
arguments are well-represented
in The National Post. And if you
want to change a country, get
them while they’re young.

At the same time, given that
we live in a country with one of
the highest standards of living in
the world, how in hell do these
people think Canada got this
way? Was it our natural
resources? Russia has plenty of
natural resources, as do Brazil
and Argentina. Proximity to the
United States? So has Mexico. Is
it our social cohesion, our huge
population base, our brilliant
leaders, our military might? Oh,
please. What has set Canada
apart, especially since the
Second World War, has been a
relatively egalitarian public-
school system—a relative
meritocracy in which, by effort
and talent, it’s possible for a
person to choose and excel in
the field in which he/she is
interested, whether or not
he/she chooses the right
parents. Something wrong with
this idea? A bit messy for some
people? Too many arrivistes
hopping onto the class above,
lacking proper table manners,
accents, skin tone? Where are
we going here? Do we want to
be like France, where positions
in the bureaucracy are
bequeathed like heirlooms from
one generation to the next? Or
the U.S., where it’s not
considered the least bit strange
to name a future industrialist
Henry Ford III? Do we want a
British-style aristocracy, whose
offspring develop underbites at
the right schools, with positions
of privilege awaiting them like
seats at the opera?

Of course I may be biased. My
great-grandfather was a farmer;
my grandfather was a yardman
for the CNR; my father worked
for an insurance company; my
siblings include two musicians
and a teacher. Not so upwardly
mobile on the income scale
perhaps, but in terms of
personal horizons, it represents
an expansion I had always
assumed to be the Canadian
way.  

If this is no longer the way
things work, someone should at
least explain why.  

Source: John MacLachlan Gray,
The Globe and Mail, November 26,
2002, jmgray@globeandmail.ca

by Jinny Sims

G
aining a say in their
unions is still very much
a struggle for women in
Latin America. That

became very clear at a meeting
of women in Panama to evaluate
BCTF-sponsored women’s
programs.

Women from unions in
Central and South America told
us that the programs to build
their confidence and capacity
are often resented by the men in
their unions. While the over-
whelming majority of teachers
in those countries are women,
they traditionally have had no
role in the leadership of their
unions.

The situation has changed
somewhat as a result of the
teacher union women’s
programs that have been
financially supported by the
BCTF, with matching funds from
the Canadian International
Development Agency (CIDA).
The programs are managed by
CoDevelopment Canada. But
there is still a long way to go, as
the stories of the women in the
programs made clear.

For a decade, the BCTF and
CoDevelopment Canada have
been supporting workshops for
women, organized by women in
their unions. The BCTF’s Status
of Women Program helped
women teachers in B.C. take a
prominent role in the leadership
of the Federation, and that is
the aim of the women’s
committees in the Latin
American unions.

…we gain
perspective and

solidarity when we
work together to

figure out how best
to support public

education and meet
the needs of

students and of
teachers.

It has not been an easy task.
In one of the unions, the SEC in
Costa Rica, women now make
up a majority of the members of
the executive and hold the two
top offices.

That is an exception. While a
few women have been elected to
the executive in other countries,
they still feel marginalized in
their union and do not get
information until after their
male colleagues. 

The challenges are not only
within the union. Many
husbands oppose their spouses’
taking part in the union leader-
ship—sometimes responding
with violence. Even other
women teachers sometimes see
them as “crazy” because they
challenge the traditional role of
women in their society.

Representatives from all the
BCTF-sponsored projects
emphasized the importance of
the grants to carry out work-
shops and training. The training
was invaluable, they said, in
developing the skills and
confidence to effect change. In
addition, because the funding is
provided from an international
source and must be spent for
women’s programs, it creates a
space for them in the union.
However, the funding also is
sometimes a source of resent-
ment by the men on executives
because they would prefer to
spend the money on projects
other than the development of
women’s participation in the
union.

A related CoDevelopment
Canada project has a focus on
non-sexist pedagogy. Several of
the unions have carried out
activities to identify sexist
practices in textbooks and
teaching approaches. A major
portion of the funding for them
has come from the Canadian
Teachers’ Federation. 

The program evaluation
meeting in Panama was linked
to a regional training conference
on non-sexist pedagogy. It
provided an opportunity for the
project developers to share their
information and approaches
with representatives from
throughout Central America and
the Andean region.

In this and other international
project meetings I have
attended, several things come
over very clearly. The small
amounts of funding provided by
the BCTF International
Solidarity Program are used
very effectively to carry out
work that otherwise could not
be done. For example, when 30

people take part in a training
session for women teachers,
they all go back to their
communities and offer the
workshop there.

Further, the BCTF is held in
very high esteem internationally.
The participants in the meetings
made it clear that they want us
to work directly with them, not

…government
eliminating the

social safety net,
“flexibility”

meaning cuts to
services;

privatization,
corporate control of
the media, media

attacking teachers,
government

attacking unions…
just send funding for projects.
They are interested in our
struggles, even though their own
struggles are carried out with
very few resources, in either the
union or their schools and
communities. And they want to
talk about strategies for
supporting public education—
the struggle that we share. This
commonality came through
strongly as teachers talked
about the situations in their
countries.

Do these sound familiar?:
fiscal deficits used to justify cut-
backs, government eliminating
the social safety net, “flexibility”
meaning cuts to services;
privatization, corporate control
of the media, media attacking
teachers, government attacking
unions, political parties have no
credibility, people are in shock—
busy at survival.

Every one of these issues was
named as participants described
what is happening to education
in their countries. Clearly we
share a lot of experiences with
our colleagues in Latin America.
In this age of globalization, we
gain perspective and solidarity
when we work together to figure
out how best to support public
education and meet the needs of
students and of teachers.

Jinny Sims is the BCTF’s first
vice-president.

Reward for a job well done?
Find another job!

by Lynda Toews

D
oing a job well is no
guarantee of job
security. Recent changes
in the funding process

for school-board adult education
programs threaten an essential
part of the public education
system.

Earlier this fall, Minister of
Education Christy Clark,
expressed her concern about the
secondary-school graduation
rate and the post-secondary
enrolment rate. In response, the
BCTF published a research
report that analyzed and
expanded upon the minister’s
unflattering comments. The
BCTF Research Report entitled
“Who completes high school and
who attends post-secondary?”
produced by Anny Schaeffer is
available on the BCTF web site:
www.bctf.ca/ResearchReports/
2002sd01/report.html.

The report makes the
following points: 

There is a “second-chance”
system of continuing and adult
education for people who drop
out of the mainstream system
(although government and the
public should heed its vulner-
ability to budget cuts). Taking
adult and continuing education
opportunities into account,
87.1% of 20-year-olds in B.C.
have either completed second-
ary school or are working
toward completion. At age 20,
the drop-out rate for B.C. youth
stands at only 12.9%, and some
of those young people may still
choose to obtain their
credentials in the future: 90% of
dropouts report that they want
to complete at least high school.
By comparison, the 1991 School
Leavers Study estimated B.C.’s
drop-out rate among 20-year-
olds to be 16%. Clearly high-

school completion rates are
improving. (Human Resources
Development Canada and
Statistics Canada, “At a
Crossroads: First results for the
18- to 20-year-old cohort of the
Youth in Transition Survey”
www.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/sp-ps/
arb-dgra/publications/books/
yts.shtml

Schaeffer’s comment about
“vulnerability” was not
prophetic. It refers to the
ministry’s announcement last
spring that adult education
funding was “under review.”
Well, the review has been
completed, and the results are
in. We don’t yet know how deep
the cuts will be, but there will
likely be program reductions
and possibly layoffs across the
province in the fall of 2004.

Lynda Toews is 2nd vice-
president, Surrey Teachers’
Association.
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Affiliation with the B
Now’s the time to
affiliate with the
B.C. Federation of

Labour
by Neil Worboys

T
his spring, colleagues
throughout our province
will take a historic vote
on whether to affiliate

with the B.C. Federation of
Labour. If ever there was a time
for teachers to join with the
broader union movement, it is
now. 

Now, more than ever, we must
be united in our efforts to resist
the B.C. Liberals’ “New Era”
politics. Gordon Campbell and
Christy Clark’s agenda of
confrontation and cuts is
devastating communities around
the province, and especially in
rural areas. Our students,
parents, neighbours, and
colleagues are being affected by
the unprecedented mass closure
of schools, hospitals, court-
houses, and community
agencies.

While they slash taxes for
their wealthy friends and
funders, the Liberals continue
slashing services to the most
vulnerable among us: the ill, the
elderly, the homeless, single
mothers, victims of crime,
children with special needs, and
immigrants and refugees. The
casualties are mounting daily.

We must be realistic. This
year’s cuts were terrible, but
next year’s could be much
worse. The government’s
program of downsizing,
privatization, and underfunding
will carry on relentlessly unless
we put a stop to it. 

Many teachers, including me
and the other leaders of the B.C.
Teachers’ Federation, believe
that we must join with others in
the Labour Movement if we are
to turn the tide and rebuild a
strong, stable public education
system for all. 

Representing 450,000
workers throughout the
province, the BC Fed is made up
of many activists and parents
who share our values of
universality and equity in a
quality public education system.

Carole Gillis (Kamloops
Thompson) 250-376-1272 f: 250-
376-3142, carole.gillis@shaw.ca

Chris Johns (Cranbrook) 
250-489-3717, f: 250-489-3727,
lp02@bctf.ca

Mark Keelan (Surrey) 
604-594-5353 f: 604-594-5176,
cell: 604-218-5362, lx36gv@bctf.ca

Norm Nichols (North Vancouver)
604-903-3500, f: 604-903-3501,
norm52@shaw.ca

BCTF contact, Larry Kuehn, 604-
871-2255, f: 604-871-2294,
lkuehn@bctf.ca

Affiliation
by Simon Truelove

O
ur provincial govern-
ment is fundamentally
changing the distri-
bution of wealth in B.C.

Like the Sheriff of Nottingham,
Gordon Campbell has been
tightening the screws on the
poor and disadvantaged while
ensuring benefits for his wealthy
friends. By reducing taxes to the
wealthy, while cutting services
and encouraging privatization, a
government can redistribute
wealth. Campbell has an
advantage over the sheriff in
that he has legions of public-
relations allies across the
continent who have managed to
put together a spin about how it
is all good for us. “Taxes for the
wealthy must be reduced so that
B.C. can compete in the global
economy.” The peasants never
used to be fooled by that one.
They just saw the Sheriff and his
friends getting fat at their
expense. The Liberal policies on
education fit neatly into this
scenario—public education
becomes “bad schools for the
poor” while rich kids go to
private schools. The government
will be able to cut taxes for the
rich even further.

In the past election, while
running for school trustee in
Delta, I found out that most
people are very concerned about
the dwindling resources avail-
able for public schools. I
discovered that as I knocked on
2,000 doors over a period of
four months, most people
believe in public education. But
many have no information on
the effects of the government’s
actions beyond what they read
in the local newspapers. They
think the schools are doing just
fine and that Christy Clark’s
Ministry of Education is valiantly
striving to make a good system
even better. We just do not have
the ability to reach people on a
wide enough scale to undo the
damage to popular perception
that has been deliberately per-
petrated by the ministry. So I
put considerable effort into
identifying possible friends and
allies.

The good news is that
teachers have a huge number of
natural friends and allies out
there: Hospital Employees’
Union, Canadian Union of Public
Employees, B.C. Government
Employees’ Union, B.C. Union of
Registered Nurses, Firefighters
Unions, New Westminster
District Labour Council... Almost
every time I knocked on a door
and got a really positive re-

sponse, it was from a member of
some union or other. Most union
members have families like you
and I. They have professional
training like you and I. They’re
angry with the government, just
like you and I. Their leaders
reflect this perspective on
education. The children are the
future. Most of our efforts as
parents are directed toward
creating a secure base and good
opportunities for our children.
We should join forces with
people who hold such views.

The face of the B.C. Federa-
tion of Labour has changed
greatly in the past few decades.
The members have become
more like us in many ways, and
we have become more like
them. This year’s inclusion of
registered nurses is one recent
example. The days of Robin
Hood, who robbed the rich to
feed the poor, are, unfortun-
ately, long past. What we should
do is vote to join the B.C.
Federation of Labour so we can
provide leadership as well as
support and meet with a
measure of success in the
struggle to come.

Simon Truelove teaches at
Senator Reid Elementary
School, Surrey.

We share interests
and concerns

by Patrick Schreck

L
ike many members new to
the BCTF, I recently
finished my university
teacher training and am

now developing as a new
teacher. I am for a strong vote
for affiliation. From my
perspective as a new teacher, I
do not understand the sentiment
of some teachers that we have
an identity and interests
significantly different from those
of employees already affiliated
with the BC Fed. My peers,
colleagues, and friends who
have now graduated from
academic and professional
programs at university did not
perceive a hierarchy of status
that separated us one from the
other. Our reality was growing
lecture and tutorial sizes,
diminishing library resources,
cuts to programs and student
aid, and increasing tuition and
student fees—no program was
spared. Frequently we rallied
together to defend our learning
conditions; occasionally we won.
Many of us had to work low-
wage part-time jobs to make it
through school, and many of us
are carrying a crushing student
debt. Today, those peers,
colleagues, and friends of mine
are members of CUPE, PSAC,
HEU, BCNU, CIEA, BCGEU, and
others—all are affiliates of the
BC Fed. 

Having graduated and now
working as a teacher, I do not
now suddenly feel that my
interests are separate from
those of my peers, or that I have

some special status that makes
me different. In fact, Gordon
Campbell’s government has
made it clear how closely allied
we are.

Patrick Schreck is a teacher on
call, Greater Victoria. 

Will affiliating
compromise

professionalism?

O
thers who work as
employed professionals
have not found profes-
sionalism compromised.

“It’s now a union movement
that actively speaks up to
protect social programs and to
protect the vulnerable in society,
for the good of all, not just union
members.

This is the image that nurses,
like teachers, can project to the
public as both professionals and
active trade unionists. We bring
our culture, our views and our
unique ways of doing things to
the house of labour, and in doing
so we strengthen the ability to
protect the social programs and
services that serve to redress
the inequities in our
communities.”

– Debra McPherson, president, 
B.C. Nurses’ Union

Do teachers 
belong in the B.C.

Federation of
Labour?

by Mark Keelan

R
ecently I attended a
workshop on workplace
toxins sponsored by the
B.C. Federation of

Labour. As I learned important
information about some deadly
substances that surround us, I

“Teachers and others in the
labour movement have the
common goal of a society
where everyone has the

opportunity to be educated,
to earn a living wage, to

receive medical treatment
when necessary, and the

right to retire with dignity.”
– Peter Bonell, Secondary

teacher, Surrey

“We have a responsibility to ourselves, our students, and
our community to build and protect a society that cares for
its citizens. We can do so by working together with labour.”

– Carole Gillis, special education teacher, Kamloops

They are our best allies in our
struggle to keep quality educa-
tion a reality for every child.

Thousands of BC Fed
members understand our
feelings in a way no other
British Columbians do. Like us,
they have also had their
collective agreements ripped up
and their bargaining rights
trampled. Working more closely
with them will help us all to
regain those crucial collective
rights and contracts.

Some teachers have expres-
sed concern that joining the Fed
will limit our professionalism,
but the reverse is true. We can
exercise our full professional
autonomy only in an environ-
ment of respect for teachers, not
in the current climate of
teacher-bashing fostered by
Campbell and Clark. Their
obsession with accountability
measures and their intentional
undermining of our system
make it next to impossible for us
to truly act as the professionals
we are.

Teachers in other provinces,
especially Ontario, have
experienced the same attacks
we are now enduring. Their
response has been to join the
Labour Movement, and they
agree it has expanded their
influence and base of support.
We should learn a lesson from
our Ontario colleagues and
follow their example.

Certainly other professionals
here in B.C. have also done so.
The B.C. Nurses’ Union joined
the Fed last year, as did the
thousands of college instructors
represented by the College
Institute Educators’ Association.
Their members say that by
being involved in the Fed, they
have increased their sphere of
influence and understanding.
Both professional unions are
encouraging teachers to take
that important step and assume
our rightful role in the house of
Labour.

If the 43,000 teachers in the
BCTF join the BC Fed, its
membership will near half a
million. Just imagine half a
million British Columbians with
shared values and common
goals. What an amazing force
for social change we can be!

When it’s time to mark your
ballot, please vote YES for
affiliation.

Neil Worboys is BCTF president.

If you have any questions, please
contact any one of the members of
the BCTF Task Force on
Affiliation. They are eager to talk
to you about the issue. You can go
to the web site, bctf.bc.ca/about/
affiliation, e-mail task force
members at labour-tf@bctf.ca, or
call them:

Sandra Davie (Prince George) 250-
562-6441, f: 250-564-4085,
sdavie@sd57.bc.ca

mailto:labour-tf@bctf.ca
mailto:sdavie@sd57.bc.ca
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BCFed
saw my participation in the
workshop as analogous to the
BCTF’s being part of the BC Fed.

Several unions were repre-
sented at the workshop: UFCW,
CAW, IWA, CUPE, ILWU, HEU,
Ironworkers, Firefighters and,
of course, BCTF. Participants’
occupations included research-
er, firefighter, city worker, office
worker, bus mechanic, mainten-
ance person, tug boat captain,
school support worker, swim-
ming pool worker, and teacher/
union officer.

Some critics of affiliation
argue that teachers, as
professionals, would be out of
place in a labour organization
such as the BC Fed. Did I feel
out of place at the workshop?
Only to the extent that I realized
that I was the only non-affiliated
person in the room. Otherwise,
it was clear that everyone
present had one main concern:
to learn as much as possible
about the topic in order to
prevent injury and death to
workers in B.C.

Discussion around the table
was varied and interesting. I
learned about pesticides, herbi-
cides, electromagnetic fields,
common cleaning solutions, and
the carcinogenic nature of diesel
exhaust. If I had not been
present, I could have read about
the topics and could have
received a summary of the
discussion, but neither would
give me the level of understand-
ing I gained by being part of the
discussion. Similarly, teachers
outside the BC Fed can be told
what is going on with organized
labour in B.C. and can try to
keep up with issues, but there is
nothing like being at the table
and being part of the discussion.

One of the most interesting
things I learned is that an
amazing number of similarities
exist between teachers’ work-
places and others,’ at least in
terms of health and safety. It
was clear that many policies of
the current provincial govern-
ment are seriously, negatively,

affecting all workers. It was also
clear that it will take a united
effort by workers to counteract
the policies of the government.

I felt completely comfortable
sitting at the table with such a
varied group of working people.
I believe that teachers will feel
equally comfortable being part
of the B.C. Federation of Labour.

Mark Keelan is a Surrey teacher
and grievance officer, Surrey
Teachers’ Association’s.

Ballot wording
Do you agree with the

recommendation of the 2002
BCTF Annual General Meeting
that the BCTF affiliate with the
B.C. Federation of Labour for a
three-year trial period?

❒ Yes

❒ No

Would B.C. teachers
be the only ones
affiliated with a

provincial labour
federation?

No.
The majority of Canadian
teachers are affiliated already.
Of the 320,000 K–12 public
school teachers in Canada:
• 195,000 belong to unions

affiliated with a labour
federation.

• 115,000 Ontario teachers
belong to three affiliated
unions—the Elementary
Teachers' Federation of
Ontario, the Ontario
Secondary School Teachers'
Federation, and the Ontario
English Catholic Teachers'
Association (Catholic schools
in Ontario are public
schools).

• 80,000 francophone teachers
in Quebec belong to the CSQ,
a labour federation.

– Larry Kuehn

GVTA focussed on school
board elections

by Debra Swain

F
or the November 2002
municipal elections, we
chose to focus on the
school boards. Because

our district spans five munici-
palities, we felt we would be
spread too thin should we try to
be involved in all the municipal
elections.

With the Sooke and Saanich
teachers’ associations, we
decided to publish a survey of
all candidates from the three
school districts. (Our members
live in all three districts. Mem-
bers of the Sooke or Saanich
associations may vote for
trustees to the Greater Victoria
School Board, and vice-versa.)
The second project we worked
on together was an ad in the
newsgroup papers covering the
three locals; the ad included the
dates of the all-candidates
meetings in each district. Locals
worked on individual projects as
well as all-candidates meetings,
communication with members,
and media spots.

Working with the Sooke and
Saanich locals was a very good
idea. We had a chance to see
how the different districts
handle trustee elections. We
brainstormed ideas for the
survey and found that our
concerns are common. Each
local was responsible for
distributing the survey to their
trustees as well as e-mailing the
responses to the GVTA office.
We formatted the responses and
had them printed in a pull-out
section with our local news-
letter. Members in the three
locals could read the responses

from the trustees in the three
districts.

The ad in the newsgroup was
facilitated by work the BCTF
Graphics Department did for
locals. The high quality ad
allowed locals to list issues
important to them and the dates
of local all candidates’ meetings
in the three districts. The
newsgroup papers go to house-
holds in the entire area. We felt
this was the best way to get the
information out to teachers and
other members of the
community.

The two projects were
organized at lunch meetings
with presidents and others from
the three locals. As a side
benefit, we learned about other
issues in the locals and have
decided to continue the practice.

Our local hosted an all-
candidates meeting with the two
CUPE unions in the district. The
president of the district PAC was
the moderator. The meeting was
very informative. Many of our
staff reps attended and took
information back to their staffs.
Having the district PAC presi-
dent chair the meeting worked
very well.  It provided an
opportunity to work with the
district PAC on a project of
mutual interest. The union
presidents collated questions
from the floor, plus some of their
own. The moderator ensured
that candidates had fair access
to answering questions. The
candidates commented on how
fair the process was and
appreciated the opportunity to
speak to the group.

Our local communicated with

our members in several ways.
As stated, we sent the pull-out
survey to our members as part
of our regular newsletter. We
also added to the pull-out
sections information provided by
the BCTF on why people should
vote, and strategic voting. There
were articles in our newsletter
on the election and ads encour-
aging members to vote. We
discussed the upcoming
elections at our local staff rep
assembly. We also sent faxes to
every staff rep to post in the
staffrooms encouraging teachers
to vote.

The president of the local was
interviewed about the elections
by various television and radio
stations. The vice president was
on the Moe Sihota show with a
panel including the president of
the district PAC and a student.
Sihota had many of the district
trustee candidates present. He
asked them questions from the
panel and from people who
called in. 

We were very successful in
electing candidates who speak
positively for public education.
We have a new chair of the
board who is seeking positive
relations with the teachers’
union. We are optimistic that we
will be able to work together in
difficult times. We are encourag-
ing the new trustees to lobby the
Liberal government for
adequate funding for public
education.

Debra Swain is vice president of
the Greater Victoria Teachers’
Association and a member of the
Teacher Newsmagazine
Advisory Board.

No more green meat!
by Sharon Yandle

A
s a union organizer of
British Columbia
hospital cooks, cleaners,
kitchen, and laundry

workers, I learned first-hand
the connection between
unionization, privatization,
and the quality of patient
care. I recall the cook in the
newly unionized private
hospital who’d been
instructed to cook rotting
meat that an ancient freezer
couldn’t properly store.
“Now that the union is in,”
she asked me, “do I still have
to cook green meat?” 

I think of that cook as the B.C.
government, immersed in the
ideology of the loony right, tears
apart public healthcare and
parcels out its bits and pieces to
the private sector. Enticing
companies to take over hospital
services, the government
unilaterally gutted collective
agreements and the employees’
right to keep the union. Private
companies may now cut wages
and end job security. Miserable
wages and working conditions,
however, will pale before what
will surely happen to patient
care.

Not poverty-level wages but
poor patient care moved
privatized hospital workers to
organize in the first place: the
re-use of disposable syringes,
paltry meals that could scarcely
sustain life, cleaning detergents
for patients’ baths, supplies
locked up at night. I remember
one tearful nurse’s aide trying to
deal with a diarrhea outbreak
with only plastic bags salvaged

from the kitchen. Workers who
were down to soup to feed their
families brought, at their own
expense, ointment for patients’
bedsores and inflamed skin. 

All those hospitals were
inspected. But an inspector, as
one told me, was like an interior
decorator offering advice.
Owners could accept or reject it,
after all, it was their business. 

For workers, to complain was
to be fired. And who would
complain? The laundry worker
rushing between two jobs as
minimum-wage workers often
do? Who would know the
system? Who could afford to
lose a job? 

The workers joined the union
hoping that someone outside the
employer’s power might weigh
in on their side to improve
patient care. They were right.

When the cook raised her
question to me, I raised bloody
hell. We got a new freezer. No
more green meat on patients’
plates. Unionization improved
patient care, standardized jobs,
stabilized a transient workforce,
and enforced health standards. 

Privatization brings back the
old logic of profit: cutbacks of
wages, staff, food, supplies. Most
Canadians, however, want the
logic not to be some company’s
balance sheet but the meeting of
patients’ needs. Poorly trained
staff, underpaid and over-
worked, will again become too
vulnerable to question the
quality of care. People with
relatives in hospitals privatized
in whole or part should check
what’s being served for dinner.
If there’s any meat at all, check
its colour.  

Sharon Yandle, a former HEU
and BCTF staff person, is a
labour consultant in Vancouver. 

“The members of the B.C. Federation of Labour are the
parents of our students. As an advocate for teacher-

initiated professional development and improved learning
conditions for our students, I know that we share common
values and receive the strongest support from the members
of the BC Fed. We need to work with people who support our
goals to regain our bargaining rights, re-establish class-size
limits, restore the services of specialist teachers, and return

the protections for students with special needs.”
– Carol Johns, Cranbrook teacher 

and president of the B.C. Primary Teachers’ Association
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10 New BCTF lesson aids

1LA 2222—BCSCA School
Counsellors’ Handbook, B.C. School

Counsellors’ Association, 248 p. ©2002.
Standard role descriptions of school
counselling services, and quick reference to
essential resources to those new to school
counselling or a specific role. Revisions and
additions will be forwarded to BCSCA
members through the e-mail list service.
Topics: the role of the secondary school
counsellor, legal and ethical guidelines,
student transition/ articulation, graduation
program, special ed services, the school-
based team, child abuse and neglect,
suicide awareness & prevention, substance
abuse resources, critical incident response
plan, sexual orientation and gender
identity, harassment & bullying, local forms,
school management system, professional
development, advocacy for school
counsellors, mental health, BCSCA member-
ship list. K–12. $30

2 LA 2048—Early Contact and Settle-
ment in New France co-produced by

The Critical Thinking Cooperative and B.C.
Ministry of Education,172 p. ©2002. Six
critical thinking challenges deal with New
France from early contact to the late 17th
century. Students examine drawings
depicting early contact between Aboriginal
peoples and Europeans; assess the
stereotyping and cultural relativism in
various primary accounts of New France;
examine the roles of fur traders and church
missionaries in colonization; assess factors
affecting four fictional French families’
decision to immigrate to New France;
interpret colonial conditions using Statistics
Canada data on the first census taken in
New France in 1665; and assume the
persona of a historical figure nominated for
the “Greatest Citizen of New France.” Grade
9. $13

3 LA 2049—Snapshots of 19th
Century Canada co-produced by The

Critical Thinking Cooperative and B.C.
Ministry of Education, 154 p. ©2002.
Eight critical thinking challenges examine
the social, political, and economical condi-
tions throughout the 19th century from four
perspectives—English Canadians, French
Canadians, recent immigrants, and
Aboriginal peoples. Students prepare a
report card on the implications of nine
selected events from each group’s
perspective, create a giant annotated
timeline, write an authentic diary/journal
entry about an assigned event, and prepare
a one-page definitive assessment of the
19th century from the four perspectives.
Grade 10. $13

4 LA 3219—Learning by Designing,
Volume 2, Jim Gilbert and Karin Clark,

©2002. Volume 2 gives the reader
additional understanding of the highly
developed, sophisticated Pacific Northwest
Coast First Nations two-dimensional art
styles. The authors have attempted to put
the art into a more spiritual and cultural
context by including First Nations’ ideals on
ethics and philosophy and by interviewing
members of an Aboriginal family. Includes
is a 16-page colour section, with a Native
Indian version of creation. Hopefully
increases the clarity and shows the beauty
of the art. Not intended as a substitute for
an apprenticeship system of learning tradi-
tional two-dimensional art, but rather it is
offered as another supplement to the tradi-
tional apprenticeship training process.
Includes the four major art style regions of
the Pacific Northwest Coast. Grades 4–12.
$34.95

5 LA 9316—Managing Our Natural
Wealth co-produced by The Critical

Thinking Cooperative and B.C Ministry of
Education, 164 p. ©2002. First four critical
thinking challenges introduce Canada’s
natural resources. Students find two
important resources in their homes. In
planning a trip across Canada, students plot
latitude and longitude coordinates learning
the names and locations of provinces and
territories, capital cities, and the most
valuable resources in each area. Students
decide which resource industries Canada
should further develop. The final challenges
focus on forestry, fishing, and mining in B.C.
Students determine differences between
past and current resource development in
B.C. Students learn of problems facing each
industry and propose solutions that are
environmentally and economically sound.
Making use of their research of harvesting
methods, students take part in a simulation

where they decide how best to manage
B.C.’s resource industries. Grade 5. $13

6 LA 9317—Legacies of Ancient
Egypt co-produced by The Critical

Thinking Cooperative and B.C. Ministry of
Education, 168 p. ©2002. Nine critical
thinking challenges in this unit have stu-
dents explore the wonders of Ancient Egypt
by creating a museum exhibition. Activities
include deciphering drawings of various
aspects of Egyptian civilization, deciding
upon the most significant similarities and
differences between Ancient Egypt and
present-day Canada, researching and
designing exhibits about the wonders of
Ancient Egypt, developing ads in media of
their choice to promote the exhibition, and
deciding on the most impressive legacy of
Ancient Egypt. Grade 7. $13 

7 LA S68—Salish Sea: A Handbook
for Educators produced by Fisheries

and Oceans Canada and Parks Canada,
108 p. ©2001. Conservation messages are
brought to the next generation of decision-
makers-our children-through the medium of
music. Includes a copy of the Salish Sea CD,
featuring singer-songwriter Holly Arntzen,
accompanied by choirs from the Saanich
School District on southern Vancouver
Island. The handbook is richly illustrated
with over 75 drawings including 10 full-
page copy masters for print or overheads.
Includes over 70 activities, integrated
across the subject areas of fine arts, science,
and social studies and correlated to the B.C.
Ministry of Education IRPs. (Also available
in French, FS58. 30$.) K–7. $30

8 LA 2221—A Career Counselling
Symposium by Dan Lukiv, 27 p.

©2002. Symposium for counselling
students and adults about career-related
concerns. The five chapters include
Humanistic Career Counselling, A Career
Counselling Interview, Career Decision
Making for Students in Grades 11 & 12,
Who Am I?, and Retirement Career Counsel-
ling. Grades 11 and up. $4 

9 LA 2220—Outlet: Queer Youth
Speak Out produced by Access to

Media Education Society, 27-min.
videocassette. ©2002. Gives audiences the
straight goods on growing up queer in a
heterosexual world. Features candid stories
about the challenges of coming out, Outlet,
reminds us how complex identity is and
how rarely people are supported in
exploring it. Above all, this video celebrates
people for having the courage to be true to
themselves, whatever their orientation. This
video is part of the AMES Peer Perspectives
by and for youth series. Grades 10–12 $45

10 LA 8027—Alternatives to Work-
sheets: Motivational Reading

and Writing Activities Across the
Curriculum by Creative Teaching Press,
Inc. 98 p. ©1992. Includes meaningful
cross-curricular child-centered activities,
simple directions, a teacher-friendly format,
and 40 activities for projects and patterns
with hundreds of variations for quality
seatwork. (Published in the USA and may
contain some US-based standards.) K–4
$10.95

For a complete listing of over 900 BCTF
Lesson Aids, consult the cataloque in your
school library or the Lesson Aids online
catalogue. www.bctf.bc.ca/LessonAids

To order any of the above lesson aids
enclose a cheque payable to the BCTF or
authorized purchase order to BCTF Lesson
Aids Service 100-550 West 6th Avenue,
Vancouver, BC V5Z 4P2. GST and
postage/handling are included in the prices.
Orders are sent by return mail.

Notice
BCTF Lesson Aids are primarily intended

to provide support for teachers in the
development and teaching of units and
lessons. They are not “school materials” as
described by the February 12, 2002,
Representative Assembly. 

The RA motion covers the purchase of
materials that should be the responsibility
of a school district. Those would include
materials used by students such as class
sets of books, paper, drawing materials or
other stationery supplies. Resources such
as those provided by the Lesson Aids
Service of the BCTF, which are of assistance
to teachers in their preparation for teaching
are not covered by the motion. We
encourage members to continue to share
materials, lesson aids, and resources with
one another.

L’
automne a vu deux
documents d’envergure
présentés à l’échelle
nationale. En octobre

2002, la Commissaire aux
langues officielles a déposé son
rapport annuel au Parlement.
Madame Dyane Adam y décrit
l’importance de la dualité
linguistique comme valeur
canadienne. Elle reconnaît les
efforts de promotion de cette
dualité qu’ont déployés les
dirigeants politiques et
administratifs, mais recom-
mande un engagement plus
profond des intervenants dans le
dossier des langues officielles.

D’une part, madame Adam
constate l’ampleur de l’appren-
tissage de la langue française
chez les anglophones du pays.
Elle indique qu’en une
génération à peine, « l’adap-
tation linguistique est entrée
dans leur vie quotidienne.» Près
de 25 % des jeunes de 15 à 29
ans se retrouvent dans des
programmes d’immersion.  Voilà
un témoignage fort de l’engage-
ment des anglophones envers le
bilinguisme. Pour ces jeunes,
ainsi que pour leurs parents qui
ont décidé de les inscrire dans
les programmes d’étude du
français, le bilinguisme est
devenu une valeur individuelle
et un élément important de leur
identité canadienne.

Par conséquence, cette
croissance de Canadiennes et
Canadiens bilingues obligera le
gouvernement fédéral à investir
davantage dans la prestation de
services bilingues. En outre,
cette croissance contribuera à
une plus grande valorisation des
deux langues officielles non
seulement dans les secteurs de
l’éducation et des arts, mais
aussi dans le secteur du
commerce international.

Nos langues officielles sont
interdépendantes.  De ce fait, il
est important que les deux
s’acceptent, se respectent et
s’entraident. En tant
qu’enseignants et enseignantes,
nous avons une responsabilité
de bien conseiller les parents
qui sollicitent notre avis au sujet
du programme d’étude à suivre.
Selon le rapport du Commis-
sariat aux Langues officielles,
seule la moitié des enfants nés
d’un parent de langue matern-
elle française se retrouve sur les
bancs d’une école francophone à
l’extérieur du Québec. Il faut
encourager les parents ayant
droit à l’éducation en français
de choisir le programme en
français plutôt que celui en
immersion. On se doit de
répéter que c’est grâce à l’école
francophone que la commu-

nauté peut espérer se
renouveler et s’épanouir. 

Madame Adam souligne les
nombreux appuis de la langue
française qu’a apporté le
gouvernement canadien depuis
l’adoption de la Loi sur les
langues officielles il y a trente
ans et l’enchâssement de la
Charte, il y a déjà vingt ans.
Suffit-il de mentionner Radio-
Canada, TV5, Téléfilm Canada,
le Conseil des Arts du Canada
pour se rendre compte du
soutien culturel qu’offrent ces
organismes de l’État ?

Le second rapport diffusé en
décembre 2002 est celui de
Statistique Canada dans lequel
on dessine le profil des langues
au Canada.  L’analyse des
données indique que nous
sommes une société dans
laquelle neuf personnes sur dix
parlent l’anglais ou le français le
plus souvent à la maison. En
Colombie-Britannique, un peu
moins de 17 000 personnes
déclarent utiliser le français à la
maison, soit une augmentation
de plus de 1 400 personnes
depuis 1991. Il y a aussi une
hausse de francophones à
l’extérieur du Québec. Excluant
le Québec, on retrouve 980 270
francophones dans les autres
provinces et territoires, dont 
58 891 en Colombie-Britan-
nique.  Le taux d’accroissement
des francophones ici est plus
élevé que celui des anglophones,
soit 3,8 % comparés à 1,4 %.
Des statistiques encourageantes
pour le développement de la
communauté francophone, vous
diriez ! Mais, détrompez-vous !
Car, de ces citoyens qui s’iden-
tifient en tant que francophones,
seulement 16 905 disent utiliser
le français le plus souvent à la
maison, soit une piètre
augmentation de 0,4 par
rapport aux chiffres de 1996.
Beaucoup de francophones
tombent dans le piège du
transfert linguistique, c’est-à-
dire qu’ils utilisent de manière
prédominante à la maison une
langue qui diffère de leur langue
maternelle. Il est important de
réfléchir à ce comportement car,
comme le rapport le souligne
trop bien, « la langue parlée le
plus souvent à la maison est la
plus susceptible d’être trans-
mise aux enfants comme langue
maternelle.»

Pourquoi vous faire part de
ces deux rapports fédéraux ?
Pour valoriser le travail que
vous faites auprès des élèves
dans les programmes de
français de base, d’immersion et
francophone.  La hausse du taux
de bilinguisme français-anglais
au Canada (de 17 % en 1996 à

17,7 % en 2001) est attribuable
en grande partie à l’excellence
de l’enseignement dans ces
programmes.  Le rapport
mentionne que la plupart des
anglophones hors-Québec qui se
déclarent bilingues ont appris le
français à l’école. C’est parmi le
groupe d’âge des 15 à 19 ans
que le taux de bilinguisme
atteint un sommet.

Mais ce qui est inquiétant,
c’est que ces mêmes jeunes
semblent avoir de la difficulté à
maintenir leurs acquis linguis-
tiques, une fois la scolarité
obligatoire terminée. En 1996,
le taux de bilinguisme parmi les
adolescents de 15 à 19 ans était
de 16,3 % ; en 2001, le chiffre
des 20 à 24 ans a chuté à 13,5
%. Est-ce que ceci s’explique par
un manque de postes bilingues,
un manque de services et
d’activités en français pour ce
groupe d’âge là où ils habitent
ou un manque d’engagement
individuel ? Avons-nous un rôle
à jouer pour convaincre nos
finissantes et finissants de
l’importance d’entretenir
soigneusement la belle langue
de Molière ? Devons-nous nous
attarder un peu plus longue-
ment dans nos cours à la
valorisation de la langue comme
instrument de communication
culturelle et sociale ?

Plus de 82 % des citoyennes et
citoyens canadiens croient qu’il
est important que leurs enfants
apprennent une deuxième
langue. Pour 75 % des anglo-
phones, c’est le français ; pour
90 % des francophones, c’est
l’anglais.  Ceci fait preuve de la
reconnaissance à l’échelle
nationale d’une de nos valeurs
fondamentales, celle de la
dualité linguistique. 

Comme le conclut avec
justesse le rapport du
Commissariat aux langues
officielles, il est temps main-
tenant que les gouvernements
démontrent un véritable esprit
de leadership et de respect en
matière de droits linguistiques
des individus. Le rêve d’un
bilinguisme national dessiné il y
a plus de trente ans pourrait se
concrétiser si le Canada se
montrait prêt à énoncer une
vision qui place l’égalité réelle
du français et de l’anglais au
cœur du projet social canadien.

Synopsis:
A summary of key points on

the topic of bilingual Canada as
presented in the report of the
Office of the Commissioner of
Official Languages and in the
Language profile from Statistics
Canada.

– Paule Desgroseilliers

Un bilan de la société bilingue canadienne

New role as trustee
by Pam Hachey

John Stafford, of Fraser Lake,
retired from 36 years of
teaching in June 2002. In
November 2002, he was elected
school trustee, defeating a long-
time trustee, Brian Malchow,
who had served as board chair
and vice-chair previously.

Stafford taught his entire
career in Fraser Lake Elemen-
tary Secondary School. His first
years were in Grades 6 and 7,
and then in industrial education
(woodwork, drafting) and career
programs (work experience).
Stafford was an active BCTF/
Nechako Teachers’ Union
member and held NDTA/NTU
positions, including Pro-D chair,
treasurer, and bargaining chair.
He served on many local com-
mittees, was PSA contact/chair
for industrial education, and
also attended the BCTF AGM.

In the community, Stafford

served as a councillor for the
Village of Fraser Lake for 13
years, served on local health
board, library board, and the
winter games board. As a
teacher, Stafford coached
volleyball, soccer, and basketball
at FLESS for many years, and
was known as a local basketball
refereee for more than 20 years.

John Stafford had for some
time planned to become a
trustee upon retirement. He has
a plan for how he would like to
approach his new role in
education. “I hope to improve
the idea that all groups involved
in education co-operate. This
includes teachers, administra-
tion, boards, unions, BCTF,
BCSTA, BCPSEA, and the pro-
vincial government. My feeling
is—together and unified we can
make improvements—fractured
and self-serving, we will not.

• I support a trades program
for Grades 10–12 students that

includes work experience and
college or trade-school credit.

• I support equity for smaller/
rural districts and schools. I
strongly support keeping
community schools open.

• I support general improve-
ments in literacy and numeracy,
as well as improving success of
First Nations Students.

• I support extra-curricular
sports, clubs, events, and
programs as a very important
part of the educational system.

• I support more parental/
community involvement in our
schools and in the education of
their children.”

In his new role in education,
John Stafford looks forward to
continuing to learn and to make
a difference.

Pam Hachey is an elementary
school counsellor in Vanderhoof
and a member of the Teacher
Newsmagazine Advisory Board.

http://www.bctf.bc.ca/LessonAids


STATEMENT 2
Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year ended June 30

2002 2001
General Operating Fund Restricted Funds

(in thousands)
` Collective Provincial

Invested in Bargaining Contingency Bargaining
Operating Capital Assets Defence Fund Fund Fund Other Funds Total Total

Balance, beginning of year $  (2,911) $17,706 $21,312 $  1,147 $       (9) $     26 $37,271 $34,715
Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses 1,416 (955) (4,793) 321 (286) 73 (4,224) 2,556

Purchase of capital assets (550) 550

Balance, end of year $  (2,045) $17,301 $16,519 $  1,468 $   (295) $     99 $33,047 $37,271
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BCTF Financial Report
for the Year Ended June 30, 2002

President’s comments 
The accompanying financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2002 have been prepared in

accordance with the by-laws of the Federation and the provisions of the Society Act. They reflect the
stewardship of the Executive Committee over the resources of the Federation and the committee’s
accountability to the membership for the effective management of those resources.

On a combined (all funds) basis, expenses exceeded revenues by $4.2 million due to significant
expenditures in the Collective Bargaining Defence Fund (CBDF) as noted below. The General
Operating Fund (GOF) revenues exceeded expenses by $461,000 which represented a significant
improvement to the $187,000 deficit budget approved by the Representative Assembly. This
improvement was due mainly to lower program expenses as a result of the transfer of staff rep
training costs, which focussed on bargaining mobilization, from the GOF to the CBDF. At their
January 2003 meeting, the Executive Committee will be considering the Finance Committee 2003–04
total fee recommendation of 1.38% (same as 2002–03) with an increased allocation of .02% to the
GOF and a reduced allocation of .01% to the CBDF and Contingency Fund. 

The CBDF balance decreased from $21.3 million at June 30, 2001 to $16.5 million at June 30, 2002
due to significant expenses for bargaining mobilization and the legislative intervention response.

The Provincial Bargaining Fund (PBF) deficit was $286,000 for the 2001–02 year which increased
the negative fund balance to $295,000 at June 30, 2002. The Representative Assembly approved a
PBF 2002–03 surplus budget of $516,000, which should provide a positive fund balance at June 30,
2003. The intent of the PBF fee allocation is to streamline or equalize provincial bargaining costs over
a number of years corresponding to the bargaining contract cycle.

The operations of the Salary Indemnity Fund reflect a deficit of $32.5 million for the 2001–02 year
compared to a deficit of $12.0 million for the 2000–01 year. The deterioration in operating results
was due to significantly higher claim expenses, lower investment income, and lower membership fee
revenue compared to the previous year. The fund balance has now decreased from $64.1 million at
June 30, 2001 to $31.6 million at June 30, 2002. At their January 2003 meeting, the Executive
Committee will be considering options from the Income Security Committee for a significant increase
in the fee for 2003–04 and possible changes to the benefit provisions.

Neil Worboys

Auditors’ Report
To the Members of British Columbia Teachers’ Federation

We have audited the statement of financial position of the British Columbia Teachers’ Federation
as at June 30, 2002, the statement of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Federation’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Federation as at June 30, 2002, and the results of its operations, changes in net assets,
and the changes in its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles. As required by the British Columbia Societies Act, we report that, in
our opinion, these principles have been applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants, November 1, 2002

Management Responsibility for Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements and all other information contained in this annual report

are the responsibility of the management of the Federation. The financial statements have been
prepared by management in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and have
been approved by the Executive Committee.

Preparation of financial information is an integral part of the ongoing operation of the
Federation. A system of internal accounting controls is maintained to ensure that transactions are
accurately recorded on a timely basis, are properly approved and result in reliable financial
statements.

The Finance and Audit Committee reviews the financial statements and recommends them to the
Executive Committee for its approval. In addition, the Finance and Audit Committee meets with the
officers of the Federation and the external auditors, and reports to the Executive Committee.

The financial statements have been examined by the Federation’s auditors who are engaged by
the Executive Committee on recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee and whose
appointment was ratified at the Annual General Meeting. The auditors have free access to the
Finance and Audit Committee, without management present, to discuss the results of their audit
work and their opinion on the adequacy of internal accounting controls and the quality of financial
reporting.

Ken Novakowski, Executive Director Rob McLaren, C.A., Treasurer

STATEMENT 1
Financial Position as at June 30

2002 2001

(in thousands)

Assets
Current
Cash $    3,028 $    4,073
Marketable securities (Note 3) 11,028 13,934

14,056 18,007
Membership fees and
other receivables 3,623 3,266
Inventories and prepaid expenses 315 251

17,994 21,524

Due from Salary Indemnity Fund 339 617

Capital Assets (Notes 5 & 6) 17,301 17,706

$  35,634 $  39,847

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $    1,666 $    1,540
Due to Provincial Specialist
Associations 921 1,036

2,587 2,576

Members’ Funds
General Operating Fund 
(including investment in
capital assets) (Schedule 1) 15,256 14,795

Restricted funds:
Collective Bargaining
Defence Fund (Schedule 2) 16,519 21,312

Contingency Fund (Schedule 3) 1,468 1,147
Provincial Bargaining Fund
(Schedule 4) (295) (9)

Public Education Defence Fund
(Schedule 5) 77 —

William R. Long Memorial
International Solidarity Fund
(Schedule 5) 5 17

Ed May Memorial Social 
Responsibility Fund (Schedule 5) 17 7

Other Funds (Schedule 5) — 2

33,047 37,271

$  35,634 $  39,847

Approved by the Executive Committee
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Schedule 4
Provincial Bargaining Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2002 2001
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $    586 $    573
Net investment income — 49

586 622
Expenses

Provincial negotiations 863 1,476
Net interest expense 9 —

872 1,476

Deficiency of revenue over expenses (286) (854)

Fund balance, beginning of year (9) 845

Fund balance, end of year $  (295) $      (9)

Schedule 2
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2002 2001
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $    2,818 $    2,767
Net investment income 1,253 1,308
Donations 65 —

4,136 4,075
Expenses

Bargaining mobilization 4,797 299
Legislative intervention response 3,752 —
Support to locals 137 224
Legal costs over GOF budget 128 —
Protest day GOF fees 115 —
Third party dispute — 24
Job action grants — 1
Miscellaneous — 5

8,929 553

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (4,793) 3,522

Fund balance, beginning of year 21,312 17,790

Fund balance, end of year $  16,519 $  21,312

Schedule 1
General Operating Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2002 2001
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $  22,639  $  22,077

Divisional operating expenses
Management 2,442 2,368
Organization Support 5,092 4,793
Finance and Administrative Services 2,100 1,814
Research and Technology 1,945 1,777
Income Security 312 281
Professional Development 3,732 3,850
Bargaining 3,190 3,107

18,813 17,990

Grants to Locals 2,950 3,957
21,763 21,947

Net interest expense 415 357

22,178 22,304

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 461 (227)

Fund balance, beginning of year 14,795 15,022

Fund balance, end of year $  15,256  $  14,795

STATEMENT 3
Statement of Operations for the year ended June 30

2002 2001
(in thousands)

Revenue
Membership fees $  26,893 $  26,346
Net investment income 905 1,013
Donations 144 —

27,942 27,359
Operating expenses

Management 2,442 2,368
Organization support 5,092 4,793
Finance & administrative services 2,100 1,814
Research & technology 1,945 1,777
Income security 312 281
Professional development 3,732 3,850
Bargaining 3,190 2,412
Grants to locals 2,950 4,652
Bargaining mobilization 4,797 299
Legislative intervention response 3,752 —
Support to locals 137 224
Legal costs over GOF budget 128 —
Protest day GOF fees 115 —
Third party dispute — 24
Contingency fund 142 408
Provincial bargaining 863 1,427
Miscellaneous 469 474

32,166 24,803
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses $    (4,224) $    2,556

Schedule 3
Contingency Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2002 2001
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $       387 $      477
Net investment income 76 62

463 539
Expenses

Cariboo Chilcotin commission 46 —
Campaign B.C. 45 —
Legal costs over GOF budget 16 90
Bulkley Valley TA grant 16 7
Oxfam/Afganistan relief 10 —
Columbia 5 —
Pension joint trust vote 2 15
Special grants 2 4
Accreditation — 128
Labour campaign 2000 — 50
Surrey book ban defence — 40
Provincial election — 35
Yukon TA support grant — 25
EI Solidarity fund grant — 10
Miscellaneous — 4

142 408

Excess of revenue over expenses 321 131

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,147 1,016

Fund balance, end of year $    1,468 $    1,147

STATEMENT 4
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended June 30

2002 2001
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses $  (4,224) $  2,556

Item not affecting cash — depreciation 955 897

(3,269) 3,453
Changes in non-cash working capital items

Membership fees and other receivables (357) 226
Inventories and prepaid expenses (64) (54)
Due from Salary Indemnity Fund 278 (126)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 125 (412)
Due to Provincial Specialist Associations (114) 42

(132) (324)

(3,401) 3,129
Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of capital assets (550) (1,070)

Change in cash and marketable securities (3,951) 2,059

Cash and marketable securities, 
beginning of year 18,007 15,948

Cash and marketable securities, end of year $  14,056 $  18,007

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Schedule 5
Other Restricted Funds

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance for the year ended June 30
Public Ed. W.R. Long Ed May
Defence Memorial Memorial Other Total Total

Fund Fund Fund Funds 2002 2001
Revenue (in thousands)

Allocation of membership fees $      —      $   429 $     34 $     — $   463 $   452
Donations 77 — 2 — 79 —

$     77 $   429 $     36 $     — $   542 $   452
Expenses

Grants — 441 26 2 469 468
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 77 (12) 10 (2) 73 (16)
Fund balances, beginning of year — 17 7 2 26 42
Fund balances, end of year $     77 $       5 $     17 $     — $     99 $     26

independent actuarial assessment, is an allocation of estimated future benefits
under these plans related to the service of employees in the current year. Future
obligations for these benefits are funded when they occur.

3. MARKETABLE SECURITIES
The market value of marketable securities at June 30, 2002 was $11,174,175
compared to a carrying value of $11,028,370 (June 30, 2001 market value—
$13,990,735; carrying value—$13,933,770).

4. MEMBERSHIP FEE
The membership fee for the year ended June 30, 2002 was 1.38% of the gross
salary of each member.
The following summarizes the fee allocations: 2001–2002 2000–2001
General Operating Fund 1.185% 1.180%
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund 0.145 0.145
Contingency Fund 0.020 0.025
Provincial Bargaining Fund 0.030 0.030

1.380% 1.380%
The General Operating Fund allocates 1.86% of its fee revenue to the William R.
Long Memorial International Solidarity Fund. In addition, the fund allocates $1
per member per year to the Ed May Memorial Social Responsibility Fund.

5. CAPITAL ASSETS
Original Accumulated 2002 2001

Cost Depreciation Net Book Value
(in thousands)

Land $  4,430 $    — $  4,430 $  4,430
Building 12,736 (2,350) 10,386 10,861

17,166 (2,350) 14,816 15,291

Renovations 860 (286) 574 407
Tenant improvements 504 (101) 403 442
Furniture and equipment 1,053 (691) 362 430
Computer hardware &
software 1,653 (507) 1,146 1,136

$21,236 $(3,935) $17,301 $17,706

6. NET ASSETS INVESTED IN CAPITAL ASSETS
Net assets invested in capital assets are funded as follows:

2001–2002 2000–2001
(in thousands)

General Operating Fund $  9,493 $  9,651
Collective Bargaining
Defence Fund 7,808 8,055

$17,301 $17,706

In 2000, the Representative Assembly authorized a loan of $8,400,000 from the
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund to the General Operating Fund to finance the
purchase of the remaining interest in the Federation’s building. For presentation
purposes, the inter-fund loan payable and receivable are eliminated in the
combined statement of financial position.

The loan bears interest at an effective annual rate of 6.09% and is repayable at
$59,818.13 monthly. The current term is renewable on December 31, 2005. Loan
interest for the year 2001–2002 was $470,705.

7. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
The following tables pertain to the Federation’s employee future benefit plans,
and provide fair value of plan assets, benefit obligations, and funded status for
the year ended June 30, 2002:

Pension Non-pension Total

Fair value of plan assets $18,742,000 $              — $18,742,000
Accrued benefit obligations 14,900,000 5,300,000 20,200,000
Funded status—plan surplus
(deficit) $  3,842,000 $(5,300,000) (1,458,000)

The net expense for the Federation’s future employee benefit plans is as follows:
Pension Non-pension Total

Plan expense (recovery) $   (917,000) $ 1,249,000 $     332,000

The actuarial determinations were based on the following assumptions during 
the year:
Discount rate 7.0%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.0%
Rate of compensation increase 3.5%
The assumed healthcare cost trend rate at June 30, 2001 was 10%, decreasing 
to 5% after five years.

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of the Federation’s marketable securities is their market value as
disclosed in Note 3. The fair value of the Federation’s other assets and liabilities
that meet the definition of a financial instrument approximate their carrying
value. These items include cash, membership fees and other receivables, due from
Salary Indemnity Fund, accounts payable and due to Provincial Specialists’
Associations.
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1. BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF COMBINATION
The British Columbia Teachers’ Federation (the BCTF or the Federation) is

incorporated as a society pursuant to the Society Act of British Columbia, and is a trade
union pursuant to the Labour Relations Code of B.C. and the Public Education Labour
Relations Act. The Federation is exempt from income tax. 

The financial statements of the Federation include the results of the seven funds
described below.
General Operating Fund: The purpose of the fund is to meet the goals of the
Federation through program expenditures planned in advance and approved by the
Representative Assembly. This fund also holds the investment in capital assets.
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund: The purpose of the fund is to pay costs directly
related to strikes, lockouts, the honouring of picket lines in third-party disputes, and
contract enforcement in accordance with policies and procedures approved by the
Representative Assembly.
Contingency Fund: The purpose of the fund is to meet, without delay, special or
emergent expenses that could not reasonably have been anticipated and to promote
the cause of public education by providing the financial means to respond effectively to
any crisis in education. Expenditures from the Contingency Fund are made in accordance
with policies and procedures approved by the Representative Assembly.
Public Education Defence Fund: The purpose of the fund is to ensure adequate
resources are available to effectively respond to the attack on public education launched
by the government and to support the implementation of the Federation’s Public
Education Advocacy Plan. Expenditures from the fund are planned in advance and
approved by the Representative Assembly. The fund was established by the 2002 Annual
General Meeting.
Provincial Bargaining Fund: The purpose of the fund is to pay costs related to
provincial contract negotiations. Expenditures from the fund are planned in advance
and approved by the Representative Assembly.
William R. Long Memorial International Solidarity Fund: The purpose of the fund
is to improve public education in developing countries.
Ed May Memorial Social Responsibility Fund: The purpose of the fund is to promote
socially responsible teaching practices.

The Salary Indemnity Fund is reported to the membership in a separate set of
financial statements and is not included in these financial statements. The purpose of
the Salary Indemnity Fund is to meet the obligations of the Salary Indemnity Plan which
provides income benefits to members disabled from employment as a result of illness or
accident. The total fee allocated to the Salary Indemnity Fund was 1.20% of gross salary
for the 2001–2002 membership year. Any fund deficiency is the responsibility of the
Federation.  The financial statements of the Salary Indemnity Fund should be read
concurrently with these financial statements.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements

are summarized below. These policies are in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants.
a. Fund Accounting

The Federation follows the restricted fund method of accounting for membership
fees whereby fees are allocated to each fund on the basis approved annually at
the Annual General Meeting.

b. Revenue Recognition
Membership fees are recognized as revenue of the appropriate restricted fund as
received or receivable. Investment income from the Federation’s investments is
recognized as revenue as earned and is allocated to the appropriate restricted
fund based on the investments held for the fund.

c. Marketable Securities
Marketable securities are originally recorded at cost.  If there is an other than
temporary decline in value, these investments are written down to provide for the
loss.

d. Inventories
Inventories of lesson aid materials are valued at cost or net realizable value,
whichever is the lower.

e. Capital Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost.  Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
method based on anticipated useful lives: 
Building 30 years Furniture & equipment 3–15 years
Renovations 9–10 years Computer hardware &
Tenant improvements 10 years software 3–10 years

f. Employee Future Benefits
The Federation maintains a defined benefit registered pension plan for all support
staff of the Federation including casual and temporary employees and any
administrative and excluded staff who are not eligible to join the Teachers’
Pension Plan.
The pension expense and plan funding requirements are determined tri-annually
by independent consulting actuaries.  The cost of pension benefits earned is
determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on service and is
charged to expense as services are rendered. Adjustments arising from plan
amendments, changes in assumptions, experience gains and losses, and the net
pension assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated average
remaining service lives of the employees.

In addition, the Federation provides non-pension benefits to qualifying retirees
consisting of supplementary health insurance benefits. The cost of post-retirement
benefits other than pensions is recognized on an accrual basis over the working
lives of employees. The expense reported in the current year, based on tri-annual

Notes to Financial StatementsYear Ended June 30, 2002
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on anticipated useful lives:
Furniture and equipment 5 to 15 years
Computer hardware and software 3 to 10 years
Renovations 10 years

3. INVESTMENTS
The market value of long-term investments as at June 30,

2002 was $186,374,987 compared to a carrying value of
$183,210,092. (June 30, 2001 market value—$201,325,747;
carrying value—$191,001,787).

4. CAPITAL ASSETS
Original Accumulated 2002 2001

Cost Depreciation Net Book Value
(in thousands)

Furniture & equipment $   156 $    (45) $111 $  33
Computer hardware 
& software 592 (94) 498 556

Renovations 307 (37) 270 126
$1,055 $  (176) $879 $715

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2002 was
$107,205 (2001–$33,000) 

5. BANK INDEBTEDNESS
The British Columbia Teachers’ Federation maintains

consolidated banking arrangements with its financial
institution for overdraft and interest calculation purposes. At
June 30, 2002 the combined bank account balance was
positive.

6. CLAIM EXPENSES AND PROVISION FOR CLAIMS
The estimate of accrued liabilities and provision for claims

is based upon an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2002
performed in accordance with standards established by the
Canadian Institute of Actuaries using data supplied by
management of the Plan. This valuation uses standard claims
tables modified to reflect Plan experience. In subsequent
periods the accrued liabilities and provision for claims are
adjusted based upon actual Plan experience. These
adjustments can be significant. The estimate of accrued

STATEMENT 3
Salary Indemnity Fund

Statement of Cash Flows
for the Year Ended June 30

2002 2001
(in thousands)

Cash flows from
operating activities

Deficiency of 
revenue over expenses $(32,508) $(12,041)

Items not affecting cash
Increase in actuarial
valuation of provision
for claims 25,902 16,836

Depreciation 107 33

(6,499) 4,828

Changes in non-cash
working capital items
Accounts receivable 118 197
Accounts payable (88) (78)
Due to General Operating
Fund (278) 126

(248) 245
$(6,747) $    5,073

Cash flow from 
investing activities

Purchase of capital
assets (272) (411)

Decrease (increase) in 
investment portfolio 7,792 (5,839)

7,520 (6,250)
Change in bank 
indebtedness 773 (1,177)

Bank indebtedness,
beginning of year (1,532) (355)

Bank indebtedness,
end of year $    (759) $ (1,532)

1. BACKGROUND AND FEES
The purpose of the Salary Indemnity Fund is to meet the

obligations of the Salary Indemnity Plan which provides
income benefits to members disabled from employment as a
result of illness or accident.

The membership fee for the year ending June 30, 2002
was 1.2% (2001—1.3%) of the gross salary of each member.
For the year ending June 30, 2003, the 2002 Annual General
Meeting approved a fee of 1.2% of the gross salary of each
member.

The financial position of the British Columbia Teachers’
Federation is reported to the membership in a separate set
of financial statements and is not included in these financial
statements. The financial statements of the British Columbia
Teachers’ Federation should be read concurrently with these
financial statements.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Significant accounting policies used in the preparation of

the financial statements are summarized below. These
policies are in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and the recommendations of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.
a. Fund Accounting:  The Salary Indemnity Fund follows
the restricted fund method of accounting for membership
fees.
b. Revenue Recognition:  Restricted membership fees
related to the Fund are recognized as revenue of the Fund in
the year they are earned. 

Investment income on the Fund’s net resources is
recognized as revenue in the year it is earned.
c. Investments:  Investments are originally recorded at
cost since they are held as long-term investments. In the
event of a permanent decline in market value, the
investments are written down to reflect the decline in
market value. The resulting balance is known as the carrying
value. The carrying value is not increased to reflect any
subsequent increase in market value.
d. Capital Assets:  Capital assets are recorded at cost.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method based

liabilities and provision for claims for the individual segments
of the plan are set out below:

June 30 June 30
2002 2001

(in thousands)

Short term claims $    3,607 $    3,888
Long term claims 150,198 124,015

Total provision for claims $153,805 $127,903

As a result of the current period’s actuarial review, adjust-
ments were required for claim benefits and pension contribu-
tions attributable to prior periods. These adjustments are
included in the operations of the current period.

June 30 June 30
2002 2001

(in thousands)
Decrease related to 
current period $ (5,827) $  (3,149)

Increase related to prior periods 31,729 19,985

Total change in provision for claims 25,902 16,836
Opening provision for claims 127,903 111,067

Closing provision for claims $153,805 $127,903

7. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND TRUST 
COMPANY FEES
The investments of the Salary Indemnity Fund are managed

by independent investment management firms in accordance
with investment policies and restrictions as established by the
Federation and the Trustees’ Act (B.C.) and are lodged for
safekeeping with a trust company.

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of the Fund’s investments is their market value

as disclosed in Note 3. The fair value of the Fund’s other assets
and liabilities that meet the definition of a financial instrument
approximate their carrying value. These items include accounts
receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts payable, due to
General Operating Fund and provision for claims.

Salary
Indemnity
Fund
Auditors’ Report
To the Members of
British Columbia 
Teachers’ Federation

We have audited the state-
ment of financial position of the
British Columbia Teachers’
Federation Salary Indemnity
Fund as at June 30, 2002, the
statements of revenue, expenses
and fund balance and changes in
cash flows for the year then
ended. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of
the Federation’s management.
Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards
require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free
of material misstatement.  An
audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by
management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial
statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial
position of the Fund as at 
June 30, 2002, and the results of
its operations and changes in its
cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.  As
required by the B.C. Societies
Act, we report that, in our
opinion, these principles have
been applied on a basis
consistent with that of the
preceding year.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
November 1, 2002

STATEMENT 1
Salary Indemnity Fund

Financial Position as at June 30
2002 2001

(in thousands)
Assets

Accounts receivable $    2,741 $    2,859
Investments (Note 3) 183,210 191,002
Capital assets (Note 4) 879         715   

$186,830 $194,576

Liabilities and Fund Balance
Bank indebtedness (Note 5) $    759 $       1,532
Accounts payable 326 415
Due to General Operating Fund 339 617
Provision for claims (Note 6) 153,805 127,903

155,229 130,467

Fund balance 31,601 64,109

$186,830 $194,576
Approved by the Executive Committee

STATEMENT 2
Salary Indemnity Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Fund Balance
for the Year Ended June 30

2002 2001
(in thousands)

Revenue
Membership fees (Note1) $22,701 $24,257
Teachers’ share of employment
insurance premium reductions 1,794 1,776

Investment income 7,242 12,898
31,737 38,931

Expenses
Short term claims paid 8,791 9,128
Long term claims paid 23,978 20,239

32,769 29,367
Increase in actuarial valuation of
provision for claims (Note 6) 25,902 16,836

Total claim and pension expenses 58,671 46,203

Deficiency of revenue over claim 
and pension expenses (26,934) (7,272)

Administrative expenses 5,056 4,210

Investment management and trust
company fees (Note 7) 518 559

5,574 4,769
Deficiency of revenue over
expenses (32,508) (12,041)

Fund balance, beginning of year 64,109 76,150

Fund balance, end of year $31,601 $64,109

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended June 30, 2002
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Retirement planning
seminars

All teachers age 40+ should plan to attend one of the
retirement-planning seminars listed. There is no pre-registration,
nor fee. Seminars are on Saturdays from 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.
The agenda includes what retirement is, the Teachers’ Pension
Plan, legal issues, retirement experiences, pension calculations,
and personal advice. Make sure to bring a calculator and your
most recent pension statement. Younger teachers are welcome.

Date Location
February 8 Vancouver, Plaza 500 

February 15 Delta, Town and Country Inn

February 15 Courtenay, The Villas @ Crown Isle

March 1 Prince George, Coast Inn of the North

March 8 Kelowna, Ramada Lodge Hotel

March 8 Nelson, Prestige Inn

March 29 Kamloops, U. College of the Cariboo

April 5 Dawson Creek, George Dawson Inn

April 5 Port Hardy, Airport Inn

April 12 Cranbrook, Heritage Inn

April 12 Victoria, Holiday Inn

Teachers who have reached the
age of 64 or the factor 88, age
plus contributory service with the
teachers or municipal pension
plan, may voluntarily withdraw
from the BCTF Salary Indemnity
Plan: Long Term. If you have
reached age 65 or factor 90, you
are no longer eligible for long-

35 Langley
Brenda Bahr
Mary Bailey
Malcolm Bailey
Brian Bell
Philip Broadhead
Carol Cheshire
Susan Cline
Gerrit Cotterli
Frank Dupuis
Lois Edwards
John Fuller
John Galvin
Merle Gillian
Sharon Ginetz
Edward Haywood
Terri Johnson
Donna Linke
Beverley Marinello
Pamela Milburn
William Mitchell
Linda Poole
Donna Pyrch
William Singer
Lauraine Thomasson
Luz Verzosa
Wendy White
Dale Whitley
Loraine Wong

39 Vancouver
Brian Bourke

61 Greater Victoria
Diane McNay
Sheila Richardson

63 Okanagan Similkameen
Printed in error: Sherry

Philpott-Adhikary has not
retired
72 Campbell River

Doug Fieldhouse
Elaine Frey
Ron Frey
Julie Johnson
MaryAnne Laube
Roger Lucas
Jim Ludgate
Fred Maier
Sandra McKinley
Gordon McLaughlin
Cindy Simpson
John Simpson
Elisabeth Utgaard
Rose Webber

83 North Okanagan-Shuswap
Donna Foulds
Everett Peacock

The following retirees were 
previously printed with SD82 
in error. They retired from SD83:

Bob Brickley
Peter Budda
Alan Christie
Patricia Clough
Donald Fyfe-Wilson
Brian Glanfield
Joan Glanfield
Fred Konkin
Joanne Leatherdale
Jerrold Linowski
Everett Peacock
Julie Poulis
Alan Roberts
Brian Smith
Eva Smith
Ron Sullivan
Philip Wright

Teachers
retired

by Bruce Watson

Historical review
The year 1973 saw the first

regular increases to Teacher
Pension Plan pensions based on
changes in the Canadian cost of
living. Lifetime pensions were
increased by 3% per year for
pensions granted in 1971 to 66%
for pensions granted on or
before 1950. These increases
were paid from the general
pension fund similar to the
current basic account.

In 1974 provision was made
for an increase in contributions
from both the employer and the
employees of up to 1% each to
cover the cost of indexing. The
half per cent increase from each
group was effective in May 1976
and the second half per cent in
April 1978. 

In 1974 pensions in effect in
December 1972 were increased
by 12% and pensions granted in
1973 were increased by 4%.

In April 1975 pensions in
effect as of June 1974 were
increased by 12.4%. Pensions
granted between July 1974 and
December 1974 were increased
by 5.5%.

Starting July 1975 all past
and future pensions were
adjusted quarterly with the full
increase in the Canadian cost of
living index.

The quarterly indexing was
discontinued in January 1981
and, commencing in January
1982, the present  system of
indexing came into effect.

Present system of indexing
In 1980 a special account, the

Inflation Adjustment Account,
(IAA) was created within the
pension plan. One per cent of
the employers’ contribution and
1% of the employees’
contribution was allocated to the
IAA to cover the cost of
indexing.

Under this revised system,
effective January 1982, the
annual cost of living increases
became limited to the lesser of
the annual Canadian cost of
living change or the funds in the
IAA. In other words indexing is
no longer guaranteed but is
subject to there being adequate
funds in the IAA to pay the
present value cost of the annual
indexing increases. Since 1982
sufficient funds have been
available to provide full cost of
living increases (2003 increase
was 2.3%).

At the outset the Bridge

Benefit was not indexed and a
reduced, early retirement
pension was not indexed until
the retiree reached age 60. Both
of these were indexed starting in
1995.

The employers’ contribution
to the IAA was increased to
1.13% in 1994. Starting in 1994
a portion of the employers’
contribution was diverted to pay
for retiree health benefits. Any
amount remaining goes to the
IAA to pay for pension indexing.
In 2001 the employees’
contribution to the IAA was
increased to 2%.

Effects of indexing
To indicate the importance of

indexing let’s look back over
time.

• If a person retired in 1991
with a pension of $1,000 per
month, the compound effect of
the cost of living changes
received over that 13-year
period is 33.4%

• The pension today would be
$1,334.

• Without indexing the
pension would be worth $666
today.

• In 2001, the total of all
pensions being paid was
$398,998,000. Of this total, 18%
or $71,397,000 was due to the
indexing increases. 

The future
Indexing is essential if the

value of the pensions is to keep
pace with the cost of living. As
most of the employers’
contributions that would
normally be allocated to the IAA
are being used to pay retiree
health benefits, indexing is
being supported mainly  from
active pension plan members’
contributions and investment
earnings. Retiree health-benefit
costs must be contained in order
that a greater portion of the
employers’ contributions is
allocated to the IAA to help fund
the cost of living increases.
Previous articles along with the
Pension Bulletins sent by the
Teachers’ Pension Board of
Trustees have reported on
actions being taken to contain
the health-benefit costs.

All retirees benefit from
inflation protection through
pension indexing; not all
retirees submit health-benefit
claims.

Bruce Watson is chairperson of
the Retired Teachers’
Association Pensions and
Benefits Committee.

Pack along some travel
insurance

BCTF members have access to
an exclusive travel insurance
plan called MEDOC®. Designed
with the needs of British
Columbia teachers in mind, the
plan gives you the advantage of
a larger buying group.

MEDOC® provides protection
for medical emergencies, trip
cancellation, and trip
interruption. Premiums start as
low as $6 per month.

Chances are you don’t have
adequate travel insurance
coverage.

• Many hospitals require
payment before providing care.
Do you have large amounts of
foreign money to pay for
medical bills?

Need pension
advice?

C
heck out the pension
section of the BCTF web
site at www.bctf.ca and
look under the Index for

“Pensions and Income Security”
or go directly to www.bctf.ca/
pensions/tpp/. This site includes
information about the new rules
for purchasing leaves of
absence. This is important for
maternity or parental leaves as
the new rules have time limits
for purchasing leaves. The cost
of reinstatement of a refund has
been reduced and the web site
has a table to estimate the cost
of reinstatement. There is also a
section on the tax implications
of purchase of service. If you
need further assistance you may
call BCTF Income Security.

– Dale Lauber

Indexing  of
pensions

term benefits and should
withdraw. It is necessary for you
to apply to withdraw. 

Send a completed form (avail-
able from Income Security, local
presidents, or online at www.bctf.
ca/pensions/ salary/LT-
Withdrawal Form.shtml) to the
BCTF Income Security Dept.

• 70% of BCTF members
don’t have enough coverage for
out-of-province medical
emergencies.

• If you were unable to return
home as originally planned, how
would you pay for the extra
expenses for alternative travel
arrangements?

• Would you lose the money
you paid for your trip if you had
to cancel?

MEDOC® provides answers to
those questions and pays
expenses up front directly to the
physician or hospital so you
don’t have to.

For more information or to
sign up, go to www.johnson.ca/
medoc_bctf, or call 1-866-
799-0000.

– Elizabeth MacKenzie

Travelling outside B.C. 
during spring break?

88? Don’t wait!

TUTORS  REQUIRED
Teachers needed for one-to-one, 

in-home tutoring after school hours.

TEACHERS’ TUTORING SERVICE
is a collective of BC Certified Teachers

604-730-3410

Earn
extra
money!

The Vancouver Aquarium’s school programs are curriculum-based 
and hands-on – an unforgettable, fun-filled learning opportunity 
for K-12 students. It’s a one-of-a-kind aquatic experience.

And if you can’t come to us, we’ll bring the Aquarium to you! 
We deliver the same unforgettable experience, through 
the AQUAVAN and Aquakits, anywhere in Western Canada.

Call now to book
Aquarium field trip: 604-659-3552
AquaVan and AquaKits: 604-659-3488

SCHOOL WITH THE FISHES!

www.vanaqua.org

Step back in time . . . 
Our school programs are designed to complement 
the BC Social Studies curriculum and run from 
January 20-May 30 in 2003. 

Choose from:

• The Three Rs

• A Child’s Life in the 1920s (Fridays only)

• Business as Usual

• Home Sweet Home

• Celebrating the Carousel

• English as a Second Language

Call us at 604-293-6500 or visit our website at 
www.city.burnaby.bc.ca for more information.

BURNABY VILLAGE MUSEUM
6501 Deer Lake Avenue,  Deer Lake Park Phone: 604-293-6500
20 minutes from downtown Vancouver www.city.burnaby.bc.ca

Parks, Recreation
& Cultural Services

Burnab
City of

Burnaby Village Museum2
0
0
3
 S

c
h

o
o

l P
ro

g
ra

m
s

Retired and looking for something 
rewarding to do? Volunteer with the 

Burnaby Village Museum.
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Teach &
Travel 

in China
Summer, 2003 
in Hangzhou

***
Costs:1,500 for return airfare 

Free room and board plus
travel subsidy of $500

***
http://www.geocities.

com/workstudyin
china2003/

Email:

culturalhorizons@telus.net

Today’s students
will make decisions
tomorrow about
• their food
• their environment
• and their future.

We’re preparing
them now.

AITC links  agriculture
with the IRPs through
programs and resources.
For more information
go to www.aitc.ca/bc

T 604.556.3088 / F 604.556.3030

Funding for AITC is provided by:

We have what you're looking for!

Available at:
www.ainc-inac.gc.ca

Or order 
from our kiosk: 

(819) 997-0380

Indian and Northern
Affairs Canada

Affaires indiennes
et du Nord Canada

TEACHERS INSTITUTE ON CANADIAN 
PARLIAMENTARY DEMOCRACY

2-7 NOVEMBER 2003
PARLIAMENT HILL, OTTAWA

democracy
experience

viewpoints

opportunity

understanding

• Get an insider’s view of Canada’s 
parliamentary system. 

• Meet political, procedural and
pedagogical experts. 
• Explore key issues in 

parliamentary democracy. 
• Develop resources for

teaching about Parliament,
governance, democracy
and citizenship.

• To be eligible, you must teach social
studies or a related subject to students
between grades 4 and 12, or CÉGEP
(Québec).

• 70 applicants will be selected by a 
committee of educators from across 
the country.

• A registration fee of $300 is payable
upon selection.

• The program covers travel costs,  
accommodation and most meals.

For more information or an application form, please
visit the Parliamentary Internet site at www.parl.gc.ca
(About Parliament) or call the Library of Parliament’s

Information Service at (613) 992-4793
within the national capital region or toll free at 

1-866-599-4999. 

Completed applications must be 
post-marked no later than 30 April 2003.

Renseignements disponibles en français.

LG PERSONNEL international is currently seeking new graduates 
and experienced teachers for placements in England.

Interviews and information sessions will be held in:
Vancouver
January 24 & 25 2003
February 9,10 & 11 2003

contact us now ...
toll free: 1 866 713 1512
email: teachers@lgpersonnel.com

Teaching 
in England

BONNIE BRACKHAUS, B.Ed.(Sec.), M.A.

Vancouver Westside Residential Specialist

Dexter Associates Realty
604-263-1144

• Bonnie found us a home which met our criteria of price, location &
size in a very short time. All documents were meticulously prepared.
– D. Nurse & J. McCutcheon

• You made it all flow effortlessly. – C. Naslund
• Very pleased with the help Bonnie gave us in selling our last home &

buying our present one . . . extremely thorough & conscientious. 
– M. McKinnon

EXCEPTIONAL SERVICE is My Commitment to You
Dexter Associates Realty, 2094 West 43rd Ave., Vancouver, B.C.  V6M 2C9
Tel: 604-263-1144  Fax: 604-263-6699  email: brackhaus@dexterrealty.com

Experienced boater?   Like to teach?

1-800-474-5210          mtac@telus.net

Boater licences are now law yet many Canadians are still
unable to get the training that they need to obtain the

required Pleasure Craft Operator Card. MTAC Ltd.
(Canada’s first Coast Guard accredited Course Provider) 

is looking for enthusiastic teachers with boating 
experience to run weekend/evening courses.

PLEASE CONTACT US NOW:

www.kidsed.org

PILOTS Volunteer - PILOTS for Accel - PILOTS ESL

Balanced REMEDIAL Reading

Plus!  Accel, Accelerated Language Literacy

403-254-1800

GRADES
  K - 12

GRADES
   K - 6

Companion Reading  -  Powerlines
Balanced Literacy and Language Arts
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2–March 2 (weekend sessions), Prince
George. Training to use the Orton-Gillingham
multisensory approach on a one-to-one basis or
to adapt the approach to a classroom setting,
for everyone wanting to learn new methods
and strategies for teaching students with learn-
ing difficulties, Learning Difficulties Centre of
Northern B.C. Contact Richard Skinner,
richard.ldcentre@telus.net.

13–14 Surrey. Speech-Language Conference,
Language and Literacy: The Reading, Writing,
and Spelling Connection, with Kenn Apel,
Ph.D., CCC-SLP, Conference Centre, SD 36 (Sur-
rey). Contact Carol Westdal, 604-507-5716,
westdal_C@fc.sd36.bc.ca, http://slpconfer-
ence.sd36.bc.ca.

13–14 Vancouver. Teaching the Holocaust:
The 3rd Biennial Shafran Teachers Conference,
Vancouver Holocaust Education Centre Topics:
women’s experiences in the Holocaust, the
Holocaust and the crowded curriculum: a two-
hour crash unit, using new technology, and
Holocaust children’s literature. $90 or $50 for
student teachers incl. lunch and conference ma-
terials. Contact Frieda Miller, 50-950 W 41st
Ave., Vancouver, BC V5Z 2N7, 604-264-0499,
f: 604-264-0497, fmiller@vhec.org, www.
vhec .org/programs/Resources/EC%20
brochure%202002.pdf.

13–15 Courtenay. B.C. Art Teachers’
Assn. (BCATA) Conference. Contact He-
lene McGall, 250-334-5502, f: 250-334-
4472, hmcgall@sd71.bc.ca.

13–15 Surrey. B.C. Music Educators’
Assn. (BCMEA) Conference, Sullivan
Heights Secondary School. Contact Bob
LaBonte, 604-597-2301, f: 604-597-6481,
labonte_r@fc.sd36.bc.ca, or Gordon
Keller, 604-588-3418, f: 604-588-7245,
keller_g@fc.sd36.bc.ca. Register online
on a secure site: bctf.ca/bcmea.

14 Port Alberni. Alberni District Teachers’
Union, Respect and Help Each Other, First Na-
tions Focus Professional Day, AW Neill Junior
Secondary, 5055 Compton Road. Contact
ADTU, 250 724-5021, f: 250 724-0442,
ADTU@shawcable.com or ADTUPROD@
shawcable.com.

17 Maple Ridge. MRTA Convention, “Building
Bridges Between,” Westview Secondary. Greg
Gerrie, author of Fired Up for Life! Connecting
schools with community, technology and envi-
ronment, connecting students with numbers
and words, teachers with parents, people with
fine arts. Contact Elaine Magus or Phyllis
Schnider, 604-467-2111, pd42@bctf. bc.

21 Victoria. Greater Victoria Teachers’ Assn.
Social Justice Conference. Contact GVTA, 250-
595-0181; gvta@gvta.shawbiz.ca.

21 Abbotsford. 4th Annual Shared Learning
Conference, featuring Dr. David Walsh (Raising
MediaWise Kids: Character Education in the
Media Age), Ian Jukes, and Donna Gordon
(Guided Reading and Literacy Centers K-3); 65
workshops for educators and support staff.
Contact Julia Holland, 604-852-2366 local
225, julia_holland@sd34.bc.ca.

19–22 Montreal. DreamCatching Conference,
hosted by the Native Access to Engineering Pro-
gram, for teachers of Aboriginal students in
math, science, IT integration, and cultural con-
nections, Concordia University. Contact Samy
Agha, 514-848-7824, f: 514-848-4596, 
Nativeaccess@nativeaccess.com, www.
nativeaccess.com.

20 Vancouver. FASD conference, Anger in Chil-
dren and Adolescents: Understanding and Ad-
dressing the Needs, with Dan Dubovsky, FAS
specialist, 7:30-9:30 p.m., Coast Plaza Hotel.
$25. Contact 604-822-0054, f: 604-822-
4835, interprof@cehs.ubc.ca, www.interpro-
fessional.ubc.ca.

21 Kelowna. B.C. Assn. of Mathematics
Teachers (BCAMT) Interior Math Confer-
ence, Mount Boucherie Secondary
School. Contact Chris Van Bergeyk, 250-
766-2734, f: 250-766-0271, cvanberg@
sd23.bc.ca.

21–22 Vancouver. FAS and Other Drug-Re-
lated Effects 2003: Doing What Works, (pre-
conference workshops February 20), Coast
Plaza Hotel. Contact 604-882-4965, f: 604-
822-4835, elaine@cehs.ubc.ca, www.inter-
professional.ubc.ca.

27–March 1, Vancouver. TEAL 2003, 35th
annual conference, Reflective Teaching and Re-
flective Deliveries, Global Village English Cen-
ters, 888 Cambie Street. Contact Alison
McBride, bcteal@telus.net, TEAL, 201 West
Broadway, Vancouver, BC V5Z 1G4, 604-736-
6330, f: 604-736-6306, www.bcteal.org.

MARCH
7–9 Prince George. Math with Manipulatives,
Level Two (Advanced), with Marilyn Wardrop
(CATT), Learning Difficulties Centre. Contact
Richard Skinner, richard.ldcentre@telus.net.

13–14 Vancouver. Special Education
Assn. (SEA) Crosscurrents Conference, 32
sessions. Westin Bayshore. Keynote

speaker Dr. Gordon Neufeld, The Trouble
with Kids These Days. Contact Martha
Tatman, 250-962-7634, matatman@
mag-net.com.

APRIL
2–4 Saskatoon. Eighth National Congress on
Rural Education, Designing Our Future...Mak-
ing the Right Decisions (policy, practice, re-
search), Centennial Auditorium. Contact Joe
Zolkavich, SELU, College of Education, UofS,
Rm. 30763, 28 Campus Drive, Saskatoon, SK,
f: 306-966-7916, selu.info@usask.ca.

3–4 Vancouver. Violence and Women’s Health
2003, Coast Plaza Hotel. Contact Elaine Liau,
604-822-4965, f: 604-822-4835, elaine@
cehs.ubc.ca, www.interprofessional.ubc.ca.
3–5 Vernon. B.C. Business Education
Assn. (BCBEA) Annual Conference, Shar-
ing the Passion, Clarence Fulton Sec-
ondary School. Contact registrar Ted
Voykin, 250-545-1396, f: 250-545-1395,
tvoykin@sd22.bc.ca, www.bctf.ca/psas/
bcbea/conference and events.htm.
5 Burnaby. Who Moved My Classroom? Coping
with Change—Personal and Professional Strate-
gies for Uncertain Times, Willingdon Church
Conference Centre, 4812 Willingdon Ave.,
Burnaby Contact Global Learning Connections,
TWU, 7600 Glover Rd, Langley, BC V2Y 1Y1,
604-513-2067, f: 604-513-2060, 

4 Kelowna. Learning Assistance Teach-
ers’ Assn. (LATA) Spring Conference, with
Caren Cameron, of UVic, on assessment
(Knowing what counts: Setting and
using criteria in assessment), Grand
Okanagan Resort. Contact Janice Neden,
f: 250-377-0860, jneden@sd73.bc.ca.

25–26 Calgary. Alberta Kodály Assn. 20th
Anniversary Reunion and Conference 20 Years:
So Fa, So Good!, UofC (Craigie Hall and The
Rozsa Centre). Contact Trish McGillawee 403-
270-0951, info@albertakodaly.ca, www.
albertakodaly.ca.
27–29 Victoria. Focus 2003: Leaders and
Healers, featuring Swil Kanim, Silken Laumann,
Don Burnstrick, and Cherry Kingsley, Victoria
Conference Centre. Contact Barbara Smith, 250-
598-1039, f: 250-598-2368, barbarasmith
@focusconferences.com, www.focusconfer-
ences.com.

MAY
2 Vancouver. Investigating Our Practices: 6th
Annual Conference on Teacher Research/Re-
searching Teaching, Neville Scarfe Building,
UBC. Teachers share their investigations of the
what, how, and why of professional practice.
Contact Gaalen Erickson, 604-822-2867,
gaalen.erickson@ubc.ca, or Judy Paley, 604-
822-2733, judy.paley@ubc.ca, www.ocpe.
educ.ubc.ca/wcs/c_investprac.html.

2–3 Richmond. B.C. Science Teachers’
Assn. Annual Conference, Catalyst 2003,
Cambie Secondary. Contact Tim
McCracken, 604-668-6430, f: 604-668-
6132, tmccracken@richmond.sd38.
bc.ca, or Karen Morley, 604-592-4221, f:
604-592-4221 morley_k@fc.sd36.bc.ca,
www.bctf. ca/BCScTA/.
7–8 North Vancouver. Fast Forward Edu-
cational Media Showcase, bringing educa-
tional media buyers and sellers together,
Capilano College Sportsplex. Before March 6:
$107 both days, $85.60 1 day; after March 6:
$136.10 both days, $112.25 1 day. Group
rates avail. Contact Susan Weber (604) 323-
5533, sweber@langara.bc.ca, www.langara.
bc.ca/ffwd.
9–10 Burnaby. Computer-Using
Educators of B.C. (CUEBC) Horizons
Conference: Learning Online, with Dr.
Rosina Smith, Alberta Online,
Metrotown Hilton. Broaden your
understanding of distributed distance
education, and blended models;
examine the possibilities and pitfalls of
learning through the medium of online
instruction; join teachers from AB and
SK to share their experiences with
online learning. Contact www.cuebc
horizons.ca
15–17 Burnaby. Canadian Down Syndrome
Society (CDSS) annual national conference,
Explore Beyond, Hilton Vancouver Metrotown.
Educational techniques for people with Down
syndrome. Contact Edwina Jeffrey 604-597-
9639, edwina-jeffrey@shaw.ca, or Lynne
Perreault 604-271-8170, lynneper@adsl.
intergate.ca or www.lmdss.com.

PD Calendar web site
http://pdonline.bctf.ca/

conferences/PD-Calendar.html

PD CALENDAR Additions/changes?
E-mail Debby Stagg,

dstagg@bctf.ca

TRAVEL/VACATION
MAUI Privately owned, beautiful fully furn. 2
bd., 2 bath condo, across from Kamaole 
beaches. Great complex, great location. 
250-598-6955, F: 250-598-6965.
KIHEI, MAUI Large selection of fully equipped
condos. Great beaches. Near shopping centre.
Call Alf 604-291-1751, Fax: 604-291-9773,
kihei@telus.net
WHISTLER Alpine Meadows. 3 bd. chalet,
sleeps 6, forest setting with mountain views,
fully furn., F/P, TV/VCR, stereo, W/D, close to
Meadow Park Arena, trail and transit. Call John
604-987-7619.
WHISTLER CREEK 1 bd. condo sleeps 4, F/P,
sauna, tv/vcr, 604-327-3840.
FRANCE 1 bd. close to Paris; 1 bd. Paris
central; Provence house, all fully furn. 604-738-
1876 or 604-298-3904, e-mail:
iroland@axion.net
WHISTLER 1 bd. condo (Whistler Creekside)
sleeps 4, F/P, hot tub, swimming pool, sauna.
Kitchen fully equipped. Underground parking.
Close to lift and stores. Call early to book and
avoid disappointment. Call Jan at 604-530-
0958.
TOFINO Chesterman Beach across the street.
Cozy cottage, fully equip., avail. year-round,
$100/night (seasonal), $80 off season. 
604-581-3964.
WHISTLER Alta Lake, waterfront, 1 bd. condo,
1 km to village, sleeps 4, F/P, TV/VCR,
summer/winter rates 604-298-2070.
BLACKCOMB Luxury 1 bd. sleeps 4. Pool, hot
tubs, ski in/out. 3 night min. 604-929-6589,
www.at-blackcomb.com
WHISTLER GETAWAY Pinecrest Estates, 
5 bd. 1400 sq.ft. cabin. sauna, deck with BBQ,
fully equip. kitchen. D/W, W/D, wood stove
(wood provided). Rates from $170/nt.
(seasonal). glush@shaw.ca or Jill or Gerry 604-
936-3346.
WHISTLER Alta Lake Getaway. Enjoy this cozy
townhouse on Alta Lake. Tranquility, only min.
from the village. Sleeps 6, F/P, canoe. Call 604-
941-7302. Visit www.members.shaw.ca/ruhl
HOME AWAY FROM HOME Beautiful Lake
Okanagen view homes and spacious Apex
Mountain ski cabin. Avail. by weekend or week.
250-494-0872.
WHISTLER condo, sleeps 4, views, close to
village. All amenities. 604-943-9423.
WHISTLER townhouse, sleeps 8, fully equip.
avail. Christmas, Easter & other times. 
604-985-7669 or Gary 604-669-7212.
JUAN DE FUCA WILDERNESS A quiet
retreat surrounded by peaceful meadows and
towering forests. Choose a B&B room in the
main house or choose the 3 bd. cottage with
your family or friends. We are just minutes from
wild ocean beaches and fabulous hiking trails.
Malahat Farm, 2675 Anderson Rd., Sooke, V0S
1N0, 888-340-9911, www. malahatfarm.com
WHISTLER, Blueberry Hill. Nightly/wkly/
mthly. 1400 sq.ft. condo; 2 bd. plus loft; 2 bath.
Sleeps 8+. Fully equipped kitchen; F/P;
furnishings incl. 2 TV/VCRs, stereo, W/D; c/w
linens, towels, etc. Adjacent to Whistler Golf
Course. Near Valley Trail. 1 km to Whistler
village or Alta Lake. Undergr. secure parking;
hot tub; sauna. Cleaning at end of stay is incl.
Call Jim 604-534-6839 or 604-530-9551.
SALTSPRING ISLAND waterfront getaway for
women. Accommodation avail. offering peace
and serenity, private entrance, bath and balcony.
Massage therapist on site. Women’s retreats
once a month offering yoga, massage, and
opportunities for creativity and healing. 250-
537-1219. http://saltspring.gulfislands.com/
retreat
WHISTLER waterfront, 1 bd. fully stocked
condo. Newly renovated, cozy and bright. 3
min. drive to village. Sleeps 4. Carol 604-209-
7220.
MEXICO. Time to plan your winter vacation.
We have many condos to choose from in sunny
San Jose Del Cabo, Baja, Mexico. Call 011-52-
624-1424428, if no answer leave message. Or
e-mail mexican@prodigy. net.mx, also check
web site www.mexi-cana.com
AUSTRIA skiing, kayaking, hiking:
http://members.multikom.at/knippschild
SUNSHINE COAST (Halfmoon Bay) cozy cedar
cottage, sleeps 4-6, fantastic ocean view, F/P,
BBQ. Call 604-885-7606 or
www.blackberrycottagebc.com
LIVE IN THE GULF ISLANDS! Discover 
Gabriola…cheapest of the Gulf Islands and only
20 min. ferry from Nanaimo. Visit
www.realestate-gabriola.com to see for yourself!
E-mail jheira@realestate-gabriola.com or call 1-
800-205-8080. Jheira Springford, Coast Realty
(Gabriola Village).
WHISTLER Alpine Meadows, 3 bd. chalet,
sleeps 6, forest setting with mountain views,
fully furn., F/P, TV/VCR, stereo, W/D, close to
Meadow Park Arena, trails and transit. Call John
604-987-7619. 
QUEEN CHARLOTTE ISLANDS. Fabulous
“mothership” kayaking, wilderness adventure,
unforgettable experiences. 1-888-559-8317,
www.island.net/~archipel.

EXPERIENCE CUBA. 3 wks. for $2,195. Aug.
2003. Incl. airfare from Vancouver, all meals
and lodging. Do volunteer work alongside
Cubans and enjoy leisure time while learning
about Cuba. Space limited. Nino Pagliccia 604-
831-9821. www.canadiannetworkoncuba.
ca/brigade
FERNIE SKI/RELAX RETREAT. Lovely 2 bd.
suite, large LR with gas F/P, full kitchen, laundry
facilities, private entrance, 10 min. to ski hill.
Shuttle pick-up. 3/4/7 nights. Contact Lorraine
403-276-6158, Cell: 403-861-1942,
lkneier@shaw.ca, www.members.shaw.ca/
fernierretreat
PALM SPRINGS. 1400 sq.ft. mobile home.
Completely renovated. All util. incl. Pool and
laundry avail. Centrally located. $350.US/wk. or
$1200.US/mo., 250-828-1984.
CAMPERVAN SOUGHT in BC for holiday
exchange/hire by UK teacher, summer 2003.
Exchange? VWcamper/house/car. Southern 
England. e-mail: harriskine@durweston.
fsworld.co.uk, Tel: 011-44-1258-459522
VANCOUVER HARBOUR VIEW APT. Fully
furn. 2 bd., 2 bath, steps to Sea Wall and
Robson St. $1050/wk., $2950/mo. phone 250-
492-6871.
SUMMER ON SUNSHINE COAST. Roberts
Creek. Exchange beautiful family home and
loving care of Golden Retriever for use of
comfortable camper van for a family of 4 to
travel across Canada in July and Aug. 2003.
604-885-2679.
MAUI-KIHEI. 1 bd. condo. $55 U.S./day. May
to Oct. - $65 U.S. rest. 250-642-5972 or fax
250-642-2019.
SUNSHINE COAST. 4 bd. new home. 200
metres from excellent swimming beach, Roberts
Creek. Avail. July 10 to Aug. 9. Prefer month
rental for $1500 but would rent for $500/week.
604-740-0806.
COMOX. Cozy 2 bd. beach cottage for rent July-
Aug. Kye-Bay resort area. Small kids, big kids
paradise. $650/wk. Call Willie & Eva 250-339-
4935.
SALTSPRING ISLAND. 3 bd. house, walk to
Ganges town centre. $250/wknd., $350/long
wknd, $700/wk. beddisacre.tripod.co (no www
needed), Jane 604-521-6455 (ext. 1)
QUEEN CHARLOTTE ISLANDS. Join Ocean
Sound Kayaking this summer for 8-day sea
kayaking tours in Gwaii Haanas National Park.
For info. 1-888-736-0377, e-mail:
oskayak@shaw.ca, www.oceansound.net
WHISTLER 1 bd. condo, Creekside area, Very
affordable rates. Comfortably sleeps 4. Call 604-
298-7477 or email jo-anne.hibbert@telus.com

FOR RENT/EXCHANGE
VANCOUVER Clean, bright, quiet, centrally
located condos at Robson & Bute. 1 bd. $75/
dble, 2 bd. $85/dble. Daily/weekly/monthly
rate. 604-608-4268.
WHITE ROCK. Full ocean view, 2 blk from
beach, well kept 2 bd. apt. fully furn. Private
and very quiet. Avail. any time for short term
stays. 604-538-5237.
NARAMATA. 4 bd. house for rent. Sept./03 to
June/04. Fully furn. E-mail: pnmend@shaw.ca
VANCOUVER ROOMMATE WANTED. Tidy
mature female to share furn. flat with
teacher/student and 2 friendly cats. Nr. UBC.
Excellent bus access. $500 incl. util. Call 604-
733-0203 or e-mail mziola@direct.ca

RESOURCES
FIELD TRIP IN YOUR CLASSROOM!
IRP-correlated. Hands-on! Communities, Arctic,
Government, Stream Science, World Geography.
Classroom Expeditions 250-352-3598,
www.classroomexpeditions.com
SCIENCE ACTIVITIES for the visual learner.
Designed for junior science and senior biology
in B.C. To order, phone 604-852-0923 or e-
mail davidhague@uniserve.com
HONEYBEE CENTRE for unforgettable field
trips and free IRPs. Call 604-575-BEES (2337).
Surrey, BC.
BENEATH THE SURFACE TOURS. Marine
Educational Opportunities with Depth!
Conducted by highly experienced biology
teacher to illuminate astounding biodiversity of
Northern Vancouver Island’s waters. From
whales to nudibranchs! Customized to suit age
and curriculum requirements. Boat tour can be
enhanced with slide presentation; ROV to view
invertebrate life; tour of marine mammal
artifacts; emphasis on link between nature and
First Nations culture. Contact us! Stubbs Island
Charters 250-928-3185, 1-800-665-3066,
stubbres@island.net, www.stubbs-island.com
VIOLENCE PREVENTION SCHOOL SHOW
with FREE ACTIVITY BOOK for every child! The
Buddy System brings the Personal Planning
Program alive. Dynamic, fun, musical presenta-
tion. 604-215-2760, www.buddy-system.org
DRUG PREVENTION. An excellent teaching
aid. “The Self-Destructive Use of Drugs”
educational poster with 12 commonly abused
drug groups, laminated. 19”x28”, $19.95 +
shipping. e-mail: cidac@ncf.ca

CHRISTINE PILGRIM brings field trips to
your school! Her interactive “Hands-on History”
presentations include an 1880’s schoolma’am
and several Canadian pioneer women -
Catherine Schubert, Emily Carr and Sophie
Ellison. Tailored for the classroom or the entire
school. Ph/Fax: 1-877-767-7622 (toll free), E-
mail: christinepilgrim@telus.net,
www.christinepilgrim.com

MISCELLANEOUS
MASTER OF SPECIAL EDUCATION by
coursework offered by Flinders University of S.
Australia is recognized by the B.C. Teacher
Qualification Service. The degree is available
entirely in distance mode. Applications are
invited now for commencement of study in
2003. More information at: http://ehlt-online.
flinders.edu.au/bc or from the program co-
ordinator, Bernice.Burnip@flinders.edu.au
RETIRING? Undecided about the Joint Life
Option? Order Choosing the Right Options, a
straightforward guide to choosing the best
options for your situation. Cost: $15 (taxes incl.)
Mail Ken Smith, 5120 Ewart St., Burnaby, BC
V5J 2W2 or phone BCTF Lesson Aids.
TRAVEL AND TEACH ENGLISH. Jobs
guaranteed, great pay. TESOL certified in 5 days
in-class (or online or by correspondence). Attend
a free info seminar. Free infopack. 1-888-270-
2941 or www.globaltesol.com
KITIMAT TEACHERS’ REUNION. July 2 and
3, 2003. Riverlodge, Kitimat. Former teachers
please contact Marg Irvine 250-632-2232,
Marilyn Kitching, dmeashaw@monarch.net,
Dorothy Leuze dleuze@telus.net
SOCIAL CLUB. The North Shore group seeks
single men 50 to 65 to balance co-ed mem-
bership for dinners, dancing, theatre, parties,
hiking, golfing. 604-984-9463 for details.
FIREPLACE WOOD FOR SALE. Cord $100,
not split or seasoned. 604-738-2885.
MANUAL FOR PARAGRAPH & ESSAY
WRITING. Designed for teachers/parents of
weaker or remedial students. To order send
$10.75 plus $1.55 postage to Avstan Publica-
tions, #18, 8533 Broadway St., Chilliwack, BC
V2P 5V4. Ph/Fax: 604-792-0839.
www.localtutor.com
TEACH IN TAIWAN. I need a teacher from
Vancouver to replace me and finish the school
year in a very nice kindergarten in Taipei city.
Teach English to 3-6 year olds. Accommodation
incl. If interested, please call Nils at 604-872-
4374 or fax at 604-872-4377.
NEED A SPEAKER? 403-286-5501
www.thehumourlady.ca
TUTORS NEEDED Vancouver Academic
Tutoring Services Inc. is now accepting
applications for part-time tutoring in all subjects
and grades starting immediately. Contracts are
located at various locations in the Lower
Mainland. Flex hrs., min. $21.50/hr. Need ref,
resume, transcripts, practicum report/principal
evaluation, BCCT certification or document
supporting BCCT application in progress. Car
req. Contract til June 2003. Please leave name,
phone and area of teaching concentrataion at
604-844-8177.
SASKATOON TEACHERS’ COLLEGE 1952-
53 Reunion. June 6, 7 and 8, 2003 in
Saskatoon, SK.  For information call 604-985-
2435 or 604-530-1715.
KWIL KIDS WRITING CLUB:
E-mail Kwil@telus.net
LEEF READING CLUB:
E-mail Leef@telus.net
PETS IN THE CLASSROOM or for family, 2
guinea pigs and 1 bunny or 1 bunny. $80 or
$70 firm for cage and accessories. Used to
being handled by children.
lac_67@hotmail.com or 604-517-1918.
EXCHANGE? Looking for an exchange partner
to the UK to teach 7-11 (Primary) age children
from Sept. 2003 to Aug. 2004. I live in the
Southeast, about 30 miles from London in a
small rural town. Please contact Jane for more
details at jas@classicfm.net, prefer Vancouver
area.
OVERWEIGHT? Tired? Try Herbaife, doctor
formulated products, for safe weight loss, better
health and more energy. Money back quarantee.
Contact 1-800-356-6986 or visit
www.4everslim.com (access code 15218).
EXCHANGE WANTED Sept. 2003. Math
teacher at Plymouth College, an independent,
coeducational school of 600 pupils on the edge
of Dartmoor Forest but within easy reach of
London and France/Spain. We have a
substantial, 4 bd. Victorian terraced house 3
min. walk from the school Ideally you would be
based close to Vancouver from either state or
independent secondary school. Contact Michael
Davies at mrd@493er.freeserve.co.uk
FIELD TRIP OPPORTUNITIES. Customize
your trip, www.nicolavalleyadventuretours.com
Toll free: 1-877-1089.

CLASSIFIED ADS
cost 80¢ a word plus GST.

Submit in writing to 
K. Smith at newsmag@bctf.ca,

or fax 604-871-2289

PSA PD Day 
October 24, 2003

http://pdonline.bctf.ca/conferences/PD-Calendar.html
mailto:dstagg@bctf.ca


20 TEACHER Jan./Feb. 2003

by Tim McGeer

I
n bullying, silence is tanta-
mount to complicity. But
speaking about bullying and
its causes is problematic for

affected students. Upon report-
ing harassment, a bullied youth
suffers further wrath. A cousin
is drawn into a fight to support
the sacred bond of family. The
need to “fit in” supercedes the
desire for just and respectful
treatment of others. The
conflicts are complex, and no
one is talking. Forum theatre
provides an integrated approach
to examining issues. The work-
shop group is taken through a
series of exercises that chal-
lenges them to trust and be
honest with one another, and
then it builds positive working
methods that become the basis
for play creation. From there,
the issue at hand is examined,
and symbolic exercises are used
to eke out the root of the
problem. An end-of-the-day
discussion circle allows
participants to digest what
they’ve learned and to share
their thoughts.

Conducting forum theatre
workshops with secondary-
school students seemed like a
natural fit; they are becoming
increasingly self-aware, and
thus able to identify motivations
and influences for their actions.
Audiences are invited to engage
and actively participate in the
process. In effect, the audience
becomes a part of the show, and
kids think more deeply about
the issues around bullying than
if they were simply passive
observers. In November 2002,
Headlines Theatre brought the
forum to Gladstone Secondary
School, and our assumptions
about its effectiveness were
proven. After a few consultative
conversations with Artistic
Director David Diamond and
Headlines Theatre staff, a
process was developed for
selecting kids to participate in

the project. The ideal candidates
for the project would be kids
“living the issues,” rather than
those who simply wanted to be
in a show. This style of theatre
requires the telling of stories
that are authentic to the
audience, if they are to fully
engage and be affected by the
forums.

Once the workshops began in
November, any differences in
age or culture seemed to
evaporate. They had embarked
on an amazing theatrical
journey that would draw them

close together as a group. The
kids were at first thrilled to be
out of class, in order to be
working on theatre all day, but
as the workshops progressed, a
kind of alchemy began to take
place. Students became more
honest with one another, and
themselves, as the transforma-
tive power of theatre ritual
began to take hold. Their per-
sonal stories began to emerge,
and we began to jell as a group.
After a week of intensive
rehearsal, it was time to do the
show for our targeted audience.

Recognizing that the bullies “R” us: 
Eliciting a community-based response to

bullying in schools

The administration and I had
selected audiences of Grade 8s
and 9s, as we felt that they were
dealing most immediately with
many of the bullying issues
explored in the plays.

The audience reaction to the
shows was electric. Unlike a
normal theatre performance,
where the audience would be
sitting in the dark, passively
watching the action on stage,
our audiences were part of the
show; in some ways, the most
important part.

Once they got a feel for the

forum, they jumped right in.
Students, and teachers in some
cases, jumped on stage to offer
solutions to the bullying they
were confronting. The student
actors improvised with the new
twists and everyone got to see
the possible results of their
interventions. The atmosphere
in the room was highly charged.
Although the result was highly
entertaining, the focus on the
problem of bullying remained
foremost. Both kids and adults
were challenged and provoked
by the action on stage.

The audiences, administra-
tion, and participants were
overwhelmingly positive in their
feedback about the experience.
There was a clear consensus
that such a project/event is truly
helpful in both healing and
building community. The kids
who were the primary partici-
pants in the project were
treated to an experience that I
am sure they will never forget.
They formed a solid group that
can now provide leadership in
the school, and they had a great
time doing it.

It was a wonderful experience
to participate in the workshops
with the students, and the whole
project offered me some of the
best professional development I
have had in eight years teaching
drama in the secondary school
system. Headlines Theatre has
selected six students and four
crew apprentices to stage a
public performance of the
material that arose from the
workshops. The play, entitled
Don’t Say a Word, will be
performed at Sir Charles Tupper
Secondary School, February 13
to 23, 2003, with a live web cast
at www.headlinestheatre.com at
2 p.m. on February 23; you are
invited to log on and participate.
For more information, call 604-
871-0508.

Tim McGeer teaches at
Gladstone Secondary School,
Vancouver.

“You no longer have to keep
up with the Joneses... they’ve
died of exhaustion.”

• Allow extra time to do things
and to get to places.

• Be kind to unkind people
(they probably need it the
most).

• Carry a paperback with you
to read while waiting in lines.

best they can).

• Do something for the kid in
you every day.

• Eat right. 

• Every day, find time to be
alone.

• Get enough exercise.

• Get organized so everything
has its place.

• Get up on time so you can
start the day unrushed.

• Go to bed on time.

• Have backups: an extra car
key in your wallet, an extra
house key at the neighbours,
extra stamps, etc.

• Having problems? Join a
support group and/or see a
counsellor. Try to nip small
problems in the bud.

• K.M.S. (keep mouth shut.)
This single piece of advice
can prevent an enormous
amount of trouble.

• Keep a folder of favourite
cartoons on hand.

• Delegate tasks to capable
others.

• Develop a forgiving attitude
(most people are doing the

• Laugh.

• Laugh some more!

• Less is more. (Although one
is often not enough, two are
often too many.)

• Listen to relaxing tapes while
driving.

• Live within your budget;
don’t use credit cards for
ordinary purchases.

• Make friends with happy,
non-stressed people.

• Pace yourself. Spread out big
changes and difficult projects
over time; don’t lump the
hard things all together.

• Remember that the shortest
bridge between despair and
hope is often a good night’s
sleep.

• Say “no” to projects that
won’t fit into your time
schedule, or that will
compromise your mental
health.

• Separate worries from
concerns. If a situation is a
concern, do what you can do,
and let go of the anxiety. If
you can’t do anything about a
situation, forget it. • Sit on your ego.

• Slow down.

• Take one day at a time.

• Talk less; listen more.

• Write things down.

• Remind yourself that you are
not the general manager of
the universe.

• Every night before bed, think
of one thing that you’re
grateful for that you’ve never
been grateful for before.

• Simplify and unclutter your
life.

Stress busters
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